Public Document Pack

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee

- CABINET

Date & Time

-

TUESDAY, 12TH JUNE, 2018 AT 10.00 AM

Venue

-

ATTLEBOROUGH TOWN COUNCIL, TOWN
HALL, QUEENS SQUARE,
ATTLEBOROUGH, NORFOLK, NR17 2AF

There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask
questions of the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am.
Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least
two working days before the meeting. If the information requested is
available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.
The Cabinet
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Friday, 1 June 2018

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

Cabinet
12 June 2018

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC
Page(s)
herewith
PUBLIC QUESTIONS
There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions of
the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am.
1.

MINUTES

6 - 10

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2018.
2.

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence.

3.

URGENT BUSINESS
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act
1972.

4.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act
2011. Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5.

NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)

7.

BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING
ITEM)
To consider the grants put forward:

a)

Large Match Funding Application - Parochial Church Council of the
Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford

11 - 14

Report of Executive Member for Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.

b)

Large Grant Funding Application - Holme Hale Playing Field trust

15 - 17

Report of Executive Member for Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.
8.

DATA PROTECTION POLICY
Report of Executive Manager for Governance and Data Protection Officer.

18 - 48

Cabinet
12 June 2018
Page(s)
herewith

9.

FINANCIAL OUT-TURN 2017-18

49 - 59

Report of Executive Member for Finance, Councillor Phil Cowen.
10.

Q4 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT

60 - 72

Report of Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and Transformation,
Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen.
11.

COMMUNITY RESERVE PROTOCOL

73 - 78

Report of Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance
& Transformation Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen and Executive Member
for Place Councillor Paul Claussen.
12.

NEXT MEETING
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on Tuesday
24 July at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham.

13.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
To consider passing the following resolution:
“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press
and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.
PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE
EXCLUDED

14.

BRECKLAND BRIDGE BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE

79 - 95

Report of Executive Member for Growth and Commercialisation, Councillor
Adrian Stasiak.
15.

INTER AUTHORITY AGREEMENT – WASTE SERVICES
Report of Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance
& Transformation, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen and Executive Member
for Place Councillor Paul Claussen.

To Follow

Agenda Item 1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
CABINET
Held on Tuesday, 1 May 2018 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (ViceChairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen
Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin

Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A M Webb

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Phil Adams
Ralph Burton
Anna Graves
Andrew Grimley
Richard Hodgson

-

Maxine O'Mahony

-

Jemma March
Christine Marshall

-

Teresa Smith
Mark Stinson

-

Executive Manager People & Public Protection
Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Chief Executive
Team Leader (Environmental Protection)
Interim Executive Manager Prosperity &
Development
Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
(Monitoring Officer)
Principal Planning Policy Officer*
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151
Officer)
Democratic Services Team Leader
Executive Manager Governance (Deputy
Monitoring Officer)
Action By

38/18 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2018 were confirmed and
signed by the Chairman.
39/18 APOLOGIES
An apology was received from Councillor Cowen.
40/18 URGENT BUSINESS
The Chairman reminded Members that full Council had made the decision to
withdraw its customer services support from three of its market towns:
1

5

Cabinet
1 May 2018
Action By

Attleborough, Swaffham and Watton.
It had been agreed that these changes would come into effect from June
2018, because the way in which customers interacted with Breckland was
changing and in respect to DWP roll-out of Universal Credit.
However, since that decision had been made the roll-out for Universal Credit
at both the Dereham and Thetford offices had been delayed until mid-June
and mid-September, respectively.
Consideration was therefore being given to whether interim support could be
provided at the three locations for a period of 12 months, starting from June
2018 which would be reviewed. It was important to do everything possible to
help customers to adjust to the significant changes that Universal Credit
would bring.
A proposal would be bought forward later in the month which would set out a
number of options for how the support could be offered, using funding from
the Community Reserve at a cost of no more that £35,000. However, the
main aim was to ensure that customers develop, or have access to, the right
digital skills to claim and manage their Universal Credit benefit.
All Members were in full support of this.
41/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
None.
42/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
Councillors Borrett, Joel, Martin, Matthews and Wilkinson.
43/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
None.
44/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM)
None.
45/18 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP
The Executive Member for Place informed Members that DWP had moved
into the Thetford office, and would be officially opened by the Deputy Leader
on 2 May 2018.
The minutes of the meeting of the Joint Committee held on 27 March 2018
were noted.
46/18 AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN
The Executive Member for People and Information presented to Members
details of a proposed Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to address elevated air
pollution levels within the town of Swaffham.
2

6

Cabinet
1 May 2018
Action By

Members had asked, at the Overview and Scrutiny meeting held on 19/4/18,
for a planned timetable which would be shared with Members and this would
be provided.
The Deputy Leader asked if Norfolk County Council had on their forward
investment programme future investigation centring on the junction of Station
Street and Mangate Street. The Team Leader for Environmental Protection
replied that when an air quality management area is declared this would be
taken into account in the strategy at Norfolk County Council. The Deputy
Leader added that Breckland had been carrying out what it needed to do
however, Norfolk County Council should ensure that the action plan would
form part of their investment programme.
The Executive Member for Governance said the issue should also be raised
with members of the Environment Development and Transport Committee at
Norfolk County Council.
The Chief Executive added that Norfolk County Council had recently
undertaken a re-organisation of the Chief Officers and as a result there was
now a locality lead for the Breckland area; she would also raise the issue with
them.
Options
1. Approve the adoption and inclusion of the plan action points for further
investigation in the draft Air Quality Action Plan. Delegate authority to
the Executive Member People and Information to approve the final
plan as it is developed and consulted in terms of the finer / specific
details before its submission and approval by the Department of
Environment, Fisheries and Rural Affairs.
2. Do Nothing.
Reasons
To meet the duty imposed on the Council by Section 83 of the Environment
Act 1995 to manage air quality and ensure that air quality objectives are met,
through the declared AQMA and the production of an action plan.
RESOLVED that members approve the draft Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP)
for Swaffham and authorise delegated powers for the Executive Member
People and Information to sign off the plan once it has been finalised.
47/18 CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY
The Executive Member for People and Information sought approval from
Members to approve a revised Corporate Enforcement Policy. Breckland
Council last adopted a Corporate Enforcement Policy in 2010; the proposed
policy created a single, joint Corporate Enforcement Policy and bought it into
line with current requirements.
Options
1. To adopt the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy to guide all
enforcement activities undertaken by all service areas with a
regulatory responsibility.
2. Do nothing and retain the previous published Corporate Enforcement
3

7

Cabinet
1 May 2018
Action By

Policy dated 2010, contrary to current regulatory requirements and
statutory guidelines.
Reason
To ensure legal compliance and to ensure that enforcement action taken by
the council is better able to resist a challenge in the courts.
RESOLVED that the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy be approved.
48/18 REVISION OF BRECKLAND LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (LDS)
The Executive Member for Growth presented the report advising Members
that following the recent visit of the Planning Inspector, he had asked that the
plan be updated.
The Planning Policy Team Leader added that the Inspector had asked for
detail that had not been expected within the strategic timescale. It was
agreed that the proposed timetable was extremely tight, and depending on
further work by the Inspector, it was likely that the timetable would be revised
yet again. She went onto say that there was a large amount of work that
needed to be put forward to the inspector but that only a sound plan would be
submitted.
The Executive Member for Health asked if there was suitable capacity to
complete the work as the Local Plan was essential for the Council and the
residents of the district. The Executive Director of Commercialisation would
liaise with the Director of Planning and Building Control to ensure that
sufficient personnel would be in place to enable delivery on time.
Options
1. Members resolve to approve the eighth revision of the LDS (as at
appendix A of the report) and be effective from 1 May 2018.
2. Members do not agree to the revised LDS.
Reason
1. Endorsing option 1 will satisfy the Inspector conducting the Local Plan
examination that the Local Plan meets the legal requirements under
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) S.19 (1) which
states that Local Development Documents must be prepared in
accordance with the Local Development Scheme.
2. Should Members resolve to approve Option 2, there is a risk that the
Inspector will determine the Breckland Local Plan does not meet the
legal requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
(2004) and this may raise soundness issues.
RESOLVED that Cabinet approve Option 1 (as set out in paragraph 2.1 of the
report) and that the Local Development Scheme, which has effect from 1 May
2018 is published.
49/18 NEXT MEETING
The arrangements for the next meeting on 12 June 2018 at 10:00am at
Attleborough Town Council, Town Hall, Queens Square, Attleborough,
4

8

Cabinet
1 May 2018
Action By

Norfolk, NR17 2AF were noted.
50/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.
51/18 ALTERNATIVE PROPOSAL FOR ELECTRICITY POWER SCHEME IN
SNETTERTON - PROCUREMENT EXEMPTION
Consideration was given to a proposed procurement strategy in respect of the
scheme. Initial legal advice had been taken, and this was reported to the
meeting.
RESOLVED that Option 1 as highlighted in the report be approved in
accordance with the recommendations, subject to receiving detailed legal
advice.
52/18 SNETTERTON ELECTRICITY POWER UPGRADE PROJECT - PROJECT
UPDATE AND ACCEPTANCE OF GRANT
Consideration was given to offers of external grant funding which would
enable delivery of the scheme.
RESOLVED that Option 1 as highlighted in the report be approved in
accordance with the recommendations.
53/18 PFI LEISURE CONTRACT SUB-CONTRACTOR
Consideration was given to a proposal from the current contractor in respect
of sub-contracting arrangements.
RESOLVED that Option 2, as highlighted in the report be approved in
accordance with the recommendations.
54/18 BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT ASSET
Consideration was given to options and a long term strategy for the property.
RESOLVED that Option 1 be approved in accordance with the
recommendations and ‘on the basis set out in the report’.
The meeting closed at 10.40 am

CHAIRMAN

5

9

Agenda Item 7a

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Executive Member for Place, Paul Claussen

To:
Author:

Informal Executive Meeting, 4 June 2018
Cabinet, 12 June 2018
Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, Norfolk Community Foundation

Subject:

Match Funding (large) application

Purpose:

To consider the decision to award funding to the Parochial Church
Council of the Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford

Recommendation:
1) That Cabinet approves the following grant award:
 £19,817 (or 8.1% of the project costs, whichever is the lower amount) to the
Parochial Church Council of the Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford to update
facilities to make the church more suitable for community activities.
BACKGROUND – Parochial Church Council of the Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford
(Thetford PCC)
1.1

The Parochial Church Council of the Ecclesiastical Parish of Thetford (Thetford
PCC) is the body responsible for St Cuthbert’s Church in Well Street in the centre
of Thetford. Thetford PCC is also a registered charity. In addition to the main
church, which is grade II* listed, there is an adjoining Victorian church hall
extension plus a further 20th Century extension to this. The hall has toilets and a
very basic kitchen. Like many churches use is limited with the PCC estimating that
at most the building is used 10% of the time.

1.2

The aim of this application is to make the church more relevant to the community
and increase the number of hours per week that it is in use by carrying out a
range of works to the church hall and the church itself. The initial stage of work
involves fully refurbishing and upgrading the hall to provide a new meeting room,
a fully equipped catering kitchen, new toilets and improved access for disabled
people. A range of uses for the refurbished building are anticipated, and central to
this is the plan for the new kitchen. The PCC aims to establish a catering training
facility in partnership with a social enterprise to provide training for up to 100
unemployed people each year including residents from the three homeless
hostels in Thetford, those people engaged in Drug and Alcohol Recovery Services
and those involved with the Criminal Justice System including those recently
released from prison. The PCC has identified potential social enterprise
organisations to run the facility and has had initial discussions with them.

1.3

With a professional standard of kitchen in place the church will then aim to provide
a range of food related services such as providing meals during school holidays
for children who get free meals at school during term time, lunch clubs for isolated
older people, cooking sessions for children including intergenerational work with
parents/grandparents and a cold weather soup kitchen for homeless people. In
addition there are aspirations to provide a range of other groups and services
such as English language classes for migrants, advice and support groups
covering topics such as job searches, CV writing, IT skills and benefits/housing
advice, training courses and parent and toddler groups. All of these will be able to

10

benefit from the catering and refreshments provided by the training kitchen. The
church’s facilities will also be open to the general public via a community café and
a range of group’s are expected to want to hire the meeting spaces. Users would
come from the town centre area and the nearby Abbey Estate where the PCC has
been increasing its engagement through the Grace Church – a church that it has
‘planted’ on the estate which meets on a primary school site.
1.4

The PCC has estimated that the project will engage with 7,500 additional
beneficiaries over the course of a year. This number includes up to 100
unemployed people per year benefiting from catering training, 40 children per day
receiving free meals during school holidays, 30 elderly people per day benefiting
from hot meals, 50 members of the local community benefiting from volunteering
opportunities, up to 20 homeless people benefiting from a cold weather soup
kitchen and parent and toddler groups and coffee mornings benefiting over 90
people per week.

1.5

The PCC has carried out a community survey to inform the project. This involved
consultations with the general public, existing church users and groups that would
potentially hire the facilities. Other organisations such as Genesis Housing which
operates two homeless hostels in the town were consulted about the project’s
potential to benefit their residents. The project responds to the main community
issues identified in the survey which were language barriers, unemployment,
income deprivation, homelessness and the need for support groups.

1.6

Detailed quotes for the work have been sought and the preferred contractor has
submitted a quote for £235,228. This figure has been updated in consultation with
the project architect to allow for inflation and the project will now work to a budget
of £245,000. The PCC has made excellent progress with fundraising and has
confirmed funding of £178,381 in place. This sum includes £75,000 from the sale
of church property, £20,000 from the National Churches Trust, £20,000 from the
Garfield Weston Foundation, £10,000 from the Geoffrey Watling Charity, £10,000
from the Bernard Sunley Foundation and over £10,000 from local fundraising. A
further grant application for £10,000 is with the Foyle Foundation with a decision
expected in July and there are also plans to sell church silverware which would
generate an estimated £10,000. If a grant is awarded by Breckland Council this
would leave a funding gap of around £27,000 which the PCC would aim to close
through further local fundraising and individual donations. Consideration is also
being given to taking out a loan to meet any shortfall or unforeseen cost
increases.

1.7

Ongoing running costs would be met from hire charges for groups using the
meeting facilities and income from the training kitchen/community café. The café
would be run by the social enterprise with the risk and profit being shared with the
PCC. The project business plan sets out the anticipated income and profit over an
initial five year period which shows the project generating a surplus from year one.
The assumptions underpinning the forecasts appear to be reasonable.

1.8

Planning permission was granted by Breckland Council in July 2010 (reference
3PL/2010/0378/F). The grant application reports that Tracy Green at Breckland
Planning has confirmed that as part of the work has already been carried out
(renewal of the hall windows) and this has been approved by a Building
Regulations the planning permission is extended until such time as the work is
completed. The work also has the appropriate permissions from the Diocesan
Advisory Committee.

11

1.9

Delivery of the capital works will be supervised by the project architect. Oversight
of the contract with the social enterprise to deliver the training kitchen work will be
overseen by the PCC committee, chiefly by one of its members who has extensive
experience in working in the supported housing sector.

1.10

A later phase of the overall project would include the removal of the church pews
to create an open and flexible space for community activity and events. This
phase of works will enhance this initial phase but is not crucial to its success.

2)

OPTIONS

2.1
2.2
2.3

Fully fund the application set out in the report
Part fund the application set out in the report
Do nothing

3)

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme. This is project which
although being delivered by a church is strongly focused on delivering community
activity and benefit. The project appears to be well planned and led, and fundraising
is well advanced. The project also responds well to the identified needs in Thetford.
The assessor gave some consideration to the potential for overlap between this
project and the recently funded project at the Charles Burrell Centre to increase
opportunities for work experience. However the assessor concluded that the
Thetford PCC’s focus on catering training means that this project is complementary
to the Charles Burrell project.

4)

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1



Individuals participating in the training/volunteering will develop the core skills
necessary to apply for employment opportunities.



Members of the community will have improved health and wellbeing through
access to well prepared meals.



People will be less isolated as a result of meeting together more regularly and
feeling part of the community in which they live.

5)

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of
the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there
may be implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified
below.

5.1

Financial

5.1.1

The Match Funding reserves held by Norfolk Community Foundation have a current
balance of £49,255. In addition to this application there are three small match
funding applications totalling £9,995 and a further large match funding application

12

for £7,500 for decision during June 2018. There are therefore sufficient funds to
meet the grant expenditure of £19,817 proposed in this report as well as these other
potential commitments.
5.2

Corporate Priorities

5.2.1

The project is closely aligned with the following Breckland objectives: 1) Support
groups and organisations to provide a range of local facilities within their
communities which further improve learning opportunities, community health and
community wellbeing; and 2) Work with partners on supporting older people to
remain active, participate and live independently within the community. The project
will make the church hall a well-equipped and flexible space in which a range of
activities will support community needs. Older people will benefit from a centrally
located venue in which they can socialise and access hot meals. In addition the
project will provide volunteering opportunities for recently retired older people
enabling them to remain active in the community.

5.3

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.3.1

Breckland member Roy Brame has confirmed his support for the project as follows:
“I would like to take this opportunity to express my total support for this excellent bid,
as the Breckland Ward representative and Norfolk County Councillor. It is one of the
most enlightened community projects I have read and I believe will benefit Thetford
greatly.”

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

Thetford, particularly Castle Ward

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

NCF – Norfolk Community Foundation

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer,
Norfolk Community Foundation
Telephone Number: 01603 623958
Email: cliverayner@norfolkfoundation.com
Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A – Grant Application

13

Agenda Item 7b

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Executive Member for Place, Paul Claussen

To:
Author:

Informal Executive Meeting, 4 June 2018
Cabinet, 12 June 2018
Clive Rayner, Grant Officer, Norfolk Community Foundation

Subject:

Match Funding (large) application

Purpose:

To consider the decision to award funding to Holme Hale Playing
Field Trust

Recommendation:
1) That the Cabinet approves the following grant award:
 £7,500 (or 29.5% of the project costs, whichever is the lower amount) to the
Holme Hale Playing Field Trust to update play facilities in the village.
BACKGROUND – Holme Hale Playing Field Trust
1.1

Holme Hale Playing Field Trust is a registered charity responsible for the provision
and maintenance of the village hall and the adjacent playing field in the village.

1.2

This grant application was made at the end of 2017 and its presentation to
Breckland Council has been delayed while an issue with the charity’s governance
was resolved. This matter has been addressed to Norfolk Community
Foundation’s satisfaction and we now have no outstanding issues with this charity.

1.3

A match funding grant of £7,500 is sought to contribute to the costs of upgrading
equipment on the playing field which is described as having “lapsed into disrepair”
and no longer meeting legal requirements. The plan involves installing a play
tower aimed at 2 to 5 year olds incorporating a slide, a scramble net and a
noughts & crosses play panel, two sets of swings, a play tower aimed at 5 to 13
year olds and spinning mushroom and mushroom seats. In addition safer grass
matting will be fitted around each piece of equipment and seating will also be
installed to provide a space for parents/carers to interact. The cost of all of these
items is £25,516 and has been evidenced by a quote from a Norfolk based
company.

1.4

The Playing Field Trust has consulted with local residents about this project.
Initially this was done by letter and subsequently a well-attended meeting was
held. The meeting helped to identify the most appropriate equipment following
submissions by three play equipment providers. The consultation identified that
there are around 40 families with children of an appropriate age to benefit from
this project.

1.5

Fundraising is progressing well and to date £11,466 has been raised. This sum
includes a grant of £9,946 from the Awards for All scheme, £1,000 from Tesco
Bags of Help plus smaller sums from local fundraising. If a Breckland grant is
awarded at the requested level the project would have secured around 75% of the
necessary funding. The applicant has also recently made an application to the
North Pickenham Windfarm Community Fund (managed by Norfolk Community
Foundation) which if successful would complete the necessary funding. A decision

14

on this application should be available in late May/early June.
2)

OPTIONS

2.1
2.2
2.3
3)

Fully fund the application set out in the report
Part fund the application set out in the report
Do nothing
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme.

4)

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1



5)

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of
the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there
may be implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified
below.

5.1

Financial

5.1.1

The Match Funding reserves held by Norfolk Community Foundation have a current
balance of £49,255. In addition to this application there are three small match
funding applications totalling £9,995 and a further large match funding application
for £19,817 for decision during June 2018. There are therefore sufficient funds to
meet the grant expenditure of £7,500 proposed in this report as well as these other
potential commitments.

5.2

Corporate Priorities

5.2.1

The project aligns with the following Breckland objectives: ‘Supporting groups and
organisations to provide a range of local facilities which improve learning
opportunities, community health and community wellbeing’ and ‘work together with
partners and local communities to make public spaces cleaner, greener and safe.’
The project will replace outdated and unsafe equipment with an up to date play
facility that encourages children to play outside. Parents/carers will gain
opportunities to socialise while supervising younger children’s play.

5.3

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.3.1

Breckland member Nigel Wilkin has confirmed his support for the replacement of the
outdated play equipment.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

Necton Ward/Holme Hale.

Increased provision of outdoor play opportunities for children aged under 13.

15

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

NCF – Norfolk Community Foundation

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Clive Rayner, Grant Officer,
Norfolk Community Foundation
Telephone Number: 01603 623958
Email: cliverayner@norfolkfoundation.com
Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A – Grant Application

16

Agenda Item 8

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Mark Stinson – Shared Executive Manager for Governance and Data
Protection Officer

To:

Cabinet – 12 June 2018

(Author:

Mark Stinson Executive Manager for Governance and Data Protection
Officer)

Subject:

Data Protection Policy

Purpose:

To consider a draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security Breach Procedure
and Response Procedures for Data Subject Requests.

Recommendation(s):
1. That the new draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security Breach Procedure and
Response Procedures for Data Subject Requests be approved and adopted.
2. That the Shared Executive Manager and Data Protection Officer be authorised, in
consultation with the Executive Member for Governance, to make amendments to the
Policy and Procedures so far as is necessary to reflect legislative changes, emerging
guidance and to incorporate links to other relevant documents.
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) became effective from 25 May 2018,
and is also supplemented by a new Data Protection Act 2018.

1.2

The draft policy and procedures were considered by the Overview and Scrutiny
Commission at its meeting on 31 May 2018.

1.3

GDPR enhances the rights of individuals, giving them more control over their data. It also
places enhanced obligations on organisations who control and/or process data. Some of
the key changes brought about by GDPR are:




Much bigger fines are permitted by GDPR. As well as fines, individuals can bring
private legal proceedings for breaches.
GDPR obligations must be placed on contractors if they are handling personal data for
the council. Similarly, we will need to accept GDPR obligations if we provide services to
third parties.
Individuals get enhanced rights over their data – the main ones are:
o to access their data more quickly. Individuals are entitled to request details and
copies of personal data we hold on them. This now has to be provided within 30
days (previously 40).
o to have inaccurate data corrected.
o to be ‘forgotten’ – in other words to have their data deleted. This right does not
apply to certain personal data, such as data we need to fulfil a statutory purpose
(an example would be personal data required for Council Tax collection).

17







If we hold data on the basis of consent, then that consent must be genuine and must be
informed (so we cannot rely on pre-ticked boxes).
We must appoint a Data Protection Officer (The Executive Manager for Governance is
identified in the Constitution as the Data Protection Officer)
We need to be more transparent about the data we hold – informing data subjects of
the data we hold, how long we will hold it, whether we share it, what we use if for, etc.
This is achieved in a number of ways, but in particular we are producing ‘Privacy
Notices’ to tell individuals about how we are using their information.
We now have an ‘Accountability’ duty. This means that we need to be able to evidence
compliance. We are doing this by building an audit trail of training, new policies, new
procedures, technical and organisational measures, privacy notices, and other key
actions.

1.4

Appended to this report is a draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security Breach Procedure
and Response Procedures for Data Subject Requests. These are mostly based on
professional legal precedents, and then tailored for our use. There remain some gaps as
we await enactment of the new Data Protection Act and receipt of further guidance. There
will also be a need to cross reference other policies as these are created or updated (such
as IT security policies). In light of this, members are asked to authorise the Executive
Manager for Governance and Data Protection Officer in consultation with the Executive
Member for Governance to make amendments to the policy but only so far as is necessary
to reflect legislative changes, emerging guidance, and to cross reference linked policies.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Cabinet may be recommended to:




Approve the Policy and Procedures as written
Approve the Policy and Procedures with amendments
Do nothing.

3

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1

Approval will ensure that the Council has a fit-for-purpose Policy to assist in compliance
with GDPR.

4

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The introduction of changes under GDPR places a duty on all data controllers and data
processors to deal with personal data in a lawful and diligent manner. By ensuring that
there is a robust Data Protection Policy in place, the Authority will be well positioned to
adhere to these new requirements.

5

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme;
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more

18

of these headings, these are identified below.
5.1

Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1

GDPR compliance is a legal requirement. Constitutionally, final approval of the Policy sits
with the Cabinet.

5.2

Contracts

5.2.1

GDPR places obligation on Data Controllers to impose GDPR obligations on contractors.

5.3

Financial

5.3.1

Adoption of the Policy does not of itself have any financial implications. Clearly, compliance
with GDPR does have financial implications.

5.4

Risk Management

5.4.1

Having a robust Policy and associated procedures helps the Council to evidence
compliance (the ‘accountability principle’ under GDPR). This, together with proper use of
the policy and procedures, will ensure that our data practices improve and our level of risk
reduces.

6

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All wards/communities are affected.

7

ACRONYMS

7.1

GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation

Background papers:-

None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Mark Stinson Executive Manager - Governance
01775 764612
mark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Appendix B
Appendix C

Data Protection Policy (draft)
Data Security Breach Procedure
Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR

19

Data Protection Policy

.

1

20

Contents
1. INTERPRETATION .............................................................................................................................. 2
1.1 DEFINITIONS: ................................................................................................................................ 2
2. INTRODUCTION.................................................................................................................................. 4
3. SCOPE................................................................................................................................................. 4
4. PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES ................................................................................5
5. LAWFULNESS, FAIRNESS, TRANSPARENCY .................................................................................6
5.1 LAWFULNESS AND FAIRNESS.....................................................................................................6
5.2 CONSENT ...................................................................................................................................... 7
5.3 TRANSPARENCY (NOTIFYING DATA SUBJECTS).....................................................................7
6. PURPOSE LIMITATION ......................................................................................................................7
7. DATA MINIMISATION..........................................................................................................................8
8. ACCURACY ......................................................................................................................................... 8
9. STORAGE LIMITATION ......................................................................................................................8
10. SECURITY INTEGRITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY ...........................................................................9
10.1 PROTECTING PERSONAL DATA ................................................................................................9
10.2 REPORTING A PERSONAL DATA BREACH..............................................................................9
11. TRANSFER LIMITATION.................................................................................................................10
12. DATA SUBJECT’S RIGHTS AND REQUESTS ...............................................................................10
13. ACCOUNTABILITY ..........................................................................................................................11
13.2 RECORD KEEPING ...................................................................................................................12
13.3 TRAINING AND AUDIT ..............................................................................................................12
13.4 PRIVACY BY DESIGN AND DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) ...............12
13.5 AUTOMATED PROCESSING (INCLUDING PROFILING) AND AUTOMATED DECISIONMAKING .............................................................................................................................................. 13
13.6 DIRECT MARKETING ................................................................................................................14
13.7 SHARING PERSONAL DATA ....................................................................................................14
14. CHANGES TO THIS POLICY ..........................................................................................................15

.

2

21

Breckland District Council is committed to protecting the rights and privacy of all people with regard to
the processing of personal data. During the course of our activities we will collect, store and process
personal information about our staff, customers, suppliers and other third parties. We recognise the
need to treat personal data in an appropriate and lawful manner and all processing will be conducted in
accordance with this policy, the Data Protection Act 1998, the General Data Protection Regulation and
any subsequent or amending legislation.
This Policy applies to all employees and members of Breckland District Council. Any breach of this
policy will be taken seriously and serious or persistent Personal Data Breaches may be considered to be
a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct or result in disciplinary action [links]. As a matter of good
practice, other agencies and individuals working with the Council, who have access to personal
information, will be expected to read and comply with this Policy.
This Policy is open to all internal and external stakeholders and is available to view on the Council’s
website: [link]
Users of this policy are encouraged to view further guidance that has been issued by the Information
Commissioner’s Office (“ICO”). Guidance is available in many discrete areas (such as CCTV, data
sharing and subject access rights). These guidance notes can be accessed from the following webpage:
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guidance-index/data-protection-and-privacy-and-electroniccommunications/
The ICO also has a guide specifically about the new General Data Protection Regulation which can be
found here: https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
Further resources can also be found on the Council’s Intranet at
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/intranet/GDPR]

1. INTERPRETATION
1.1 DEFINITIONS:
Automated Decision-Making (ADM): when a decision is made which is based solely on Automated
Processing (including profiling) which produces legal effects or significantly affects an individual. The
GDPR prohibits Automated Decision-Making (unless certain conditions are met) but not Automated
Processing.
Automated Processing: any form of automated processing of Personal Data consisting of the use of
Personal Data to evaluate certain personal aspects relating to an individual, in particular to analyse or
predict aspects concerning that individual’s performance at work, economic situation, health, personal
preferences, interests, reliability, behaviour, location or movements. Profiling is an example of
Automated Processing.
Council name: Breckland District Council.
.

3

22

Council Personnel: all employees, contractors, agency workers, consultants, elected members and
others.
Consent: agreement which must be freely given, specific, informed and be an unambiguous indication
of the Data Subject’s wishes by which they, by a statement or by a clear positive action, signify
agreement to the Processing of Personal Data relating to them.
Data Controller: the person or organisation that determines when, why and how to process Personal
Data. It is responsible for establishing practices and policies in line with the GDPR. We are the Data
Controller of all Personal Data relating to our Council Personnel and Personal Data used in our business
for our own purposes.
Data Subject: a living, identified or identifiable individual about whom we hold Personal Data. Data
Subjects may be nationals or residents of any country and may have legal rights regarding their
Personal Data.
Data Privacy Impact Assessment (DPIA): tools and assessments used to identify and reduce risks of
a data processing activity. DPIA can be carried out as part of Privacy by Design and should be
conducted for all major system or business change programs involving the Processing of Personal Data.
Data Protection Officer (DPO): the person required to be appointed in specific circumstances under
the GDPR. The Council’s DPO is the person for the time being identified as such in the Council’s
Constitution.
EEA: the 28 countries in the EU, and Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway.
Explicit Consent: consent which requires a very clear and specific statement (that is, not just action).
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR): the General Data Protection Regulation ((EU)
2016/679). Personal Data is subject to the legal safeguards specified in the GDPR.
Personal Data: any information identifying a Data Subject or information relating to a Data Subject that
we can identify (directly or indirectly) from that data alone or in combination with other identifiers we
possess or can reasonably access. Personal Data includes Sensitive Personal Data and
Pseudonymised Personal Data but excludes anonymous data or data that has had the identity of an
individual permanently removed. Personal data can be factual (for example, a name, email address,
location or date of birth) or an opinion about that person’s actions or behaviour.
Personal Data Breach: any act or omission that compromises the security, confidentiality, integrity or
availability of Personal Data or the physical, technical, administrative or organisational safeguards that
we or our third-party service providers put in place to protect it. The loss, or unauthorised access,
disclosure or acquisition, of Personal Data is a Personal Data Breach.
Privacy by Design: implementing appropriate technical and organisational measures in an effective
manner to ensure compliance with the GDPR.
.

4

23

Privacy Guidelines: the Council’s privacy/GDPR related guidelines provided to assist in interpreting
and implementing this Policy and Related Policies, available here: [Link]
Privacy Notices (also referred to as Fair Processing Notices) or Privacy Policies: separate notices
setting out information that may be provided to Data Subjects when the Council collects information
about them. These notices may take the form of general privacy statements applicable to a specific
group of individuals (for example, employee privacy notices or the website privacy policy) or they may be
stand-alone, one time privacy statements covering Processing related to a specific purpose.
Processing or Process: any activity that involves the use of Personal Data. It includes obtaining,
recording or holding the data, or carrying out any operation or set of operations on the data including
organising, amending, retrieving, using, disclosing, erasing or destroying it. Processing also includes
transmitting or transferring Personal Data to third parties.
Pseudonymisation or Pseudonymised: replacing information that directly or indirectly identifies an
individual with one or more artificial identifiers or pseudonyms so that the person, to whom the data
relates, cannot be identified without the use of additional information which is meant to be kept
separately and secure.
Related Policies: the Council’s policies, operating procedures or processes related to this Policy and
designed to protect Personal Data, available here: [Links e.g. IT Security, email, etc.]
Sensitive Personal Data: information revealing racial or ethnic origin, political opinions, religious or
similar beliefs, trade union membership, physical or mental health conditions, sexual life, sexual
orientation, biometric or genetic data, and Personal Data relating to criminal offences and convictions.

2. INTRODUCTION
This Policy sets out how Breckland District Council (”we”, “our”, “us”, “the Council”) handle the
Personal Data of our customers, suppliers, elected members, employees, workers and other third
parties.
This Policy applies to all Personal Data we Process regardless of the media on which that data is
stored or whether it relates to past or present elected members, employees, workers, customers,
clients or supplier contacts, website users or any other Data Subject.
This Policy applies to all Council Personnel (”you”, “your”). You must read, understand and comply
with this Policy when Processing Personal Data on our behalf and attend training on its requirements.
This Policy sets out what we expect from you in order for the Council to comply with applicable law.
Your compliance with this Policy is mandatory. Related Policies and Privacy Guidelines are available
to help you interpret and act in accordance with this Policy. You must also comply with all such
Related Policies and Privacy Guidelines.
3. SCOPE
We recognise that the correct and lawful treatment of Personal Data will maintain confidence in the
organisation and will provide for successful business operations. Protecting the confidentiality and
.

5

24

integrity of Personal Data is a critical responsibility that we take seriously at all times. The Council is
exposed to potential fines of up to EUR20 million (approximately £18 million) or 4% of total annual
turnover, whichever is higher and depending on the breach, for failure to comply with the provisions of
the GDPR.
All managers and elected members are responsible for ensuring that all Council Personnel comply
with this Policy and need to implement appropriate practices, processes, controls and training to
ensure such compliance.
The DPO is responsible for overseeing this Policy and, as applicable, developing Related Policies
and Privacy Guidelines.
Please contact the DPO with any questions about the operation of this Policy or the GDPR or if you
have any concerns that this Policy is not being or has not been followed. In particular, you must
always contact the DPO in the following circumstances:

(a) if you are unsure of the lawful basis which you are relying on to process Personal Data
(including the legitimate interests used by the Council) (see Section [5.1] below);
(b) if you need to rely on Consent and/or need to capture Explicit Consent (see Section [5.2]
below);
(c) if you need to draft Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices and are unsure of the
necessary content (see Section [5.3] below);
(d) if you are unsure about the retention period for the Personal Data being Processed (see
Section [9] below);
(e) if you are unsure about what security or other measures you need to implement to protect
Personal Data (see Section [10.1] below);
(f) if there has been a Personal Data Breach (Section [10.2] below);
(g) if you are unsure on what basis to transfer Personal Data outside the EEA (see Section [11]
below);
(h) if you need any assistance dealing with any rights invoked by a Data Subject (see Section
[12]);
(i) whenever you are engaging in a significant new, or change in, Processing activity which is
likely to require a DPIA (see Section [13.4] below) or plan to use Personal Data for purposes
other than what it was collected for;
(j) If you plan to undertake any activities involving Automated Processing including profiling or
Automated Decision-Making (see Section [13.5] below);
(k) If you need help complying with applicable law when carrying out direct marketing activities
(see Section [13.6] below); or
(l) if you need help with any contracts or other areas in relation to sharing Personal Data with third
parties (including our vendors) (see Section [13.7] below).
.

6

25

4. PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES
We adhere to the principles relating to Processing of Personal Data set out in the GDPR which
require Personal Data to be:
(a) Processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner (Lawfulness, Fairness and
Transparency).
(b) Collected only for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes (Purpose Limitation).
(c) Adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the purposes for which it is
Processed (Data Minimisation).
(d) Accurate and where necessary kept up to date (Accuracy).
(e) Not kept in a form which permits identification of Data Subjects for longer than is necessary
for the purposes for which the data is Processed (Storage Limitation).
(f) Processed in a manner that ensures its security using appropriate technical and
organisational measures to protect against unauthorised or unlawful Processing and against
accidental loss, destruction or damage (Security, Integrity and Confidentiality).
(g) Not transferred to another country without appropriate safeguards being in place (Transfer
Limitation).
(h) Made available to Data Subjects and Data Subjects allowed to exercise certain rights in
relation to their Personal Data (Data Subject’s Rights and Requests).
We are responsible for and must be able to demonstrate compliance with the data protection
principles listed above (Accountability).

5. LAWFULNESS, FAIRNESS, TRANSPARENCY
5.1 LAWFULNESS AND FAIRNESS
Personal Data must be Processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to the Data
Subject.
You may only collect, Process and share Personal Data fairly and lawfully and for specified purposes.
The GDPR restricts our actions regarding Personal Data to specified lawful purposes. These
restrictions are not intended to prevent Processing, but ensure that we Process Personal Data fairly
and without adversely affecting the Data Subject.
The GDPR allows Processing for specific purposes, some of which are set out below:
(a) the Data Subject has given his or her Consent;
(b) the Processing is necessary for the performance of a contract with the Data Subject;
.

7

26

(c) to meet our legal obligations;
(d) to protect the Data Subject’s vital interests;
(e) necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of
official authority;
You must identify and document the legal ground being relied on for each Processing activity. It is
very important that you do not seek to rely on consent where you have another lawful purpose (many
of our services are, for example, tasks carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official
authority).
5.2 CONSENT
A Data Controller must only process Personal Data on the basis of one or more of the lawful bases
set out in the GDPR, which include Consent.
A Data Subject consents to Processing of their Personal Data if they indicate agreement clearly either
by a statement or positive action to the Processing. Consent requires affirmative action so silence,
pre-ticked boxes or inactivity are unlikely to be sufficient. If Consent is given in a document which
deals with other matters, then the Consent must be kept separate from those other matters.
Data Subjects must be easily able to withdraw Consent to Processing at any time and withdrawal
must be promptly honoured. Consent may need to be refreshed if you intend to Process Personal
Data for a different and incompatible purpose which was not disclosed when the Data Subject first
consented.
Unless we can rely on another legal basis of Processing, Explicit Consent is usually required for
Processing Sensitive Personal Data, for Automated Decision-Making and for cross border data
transfers. Usually we will be relying on another legal basis (and not require Explicit Consent) to
Process most types of Sensitive Data. Where Explicit Consent is required, you must issue a Fair
Processing Notice to the Data Subject to capture Explicit Consent.
You will need to evidence Consent captured and keep records of all Consents so that the Council can
demonstrate compliance with Consent requirements.
5.3 TRANSPARENCY (NOTIFYING DATA SUBJECTS)
The GDPR requires Data Controllers to provide detailed, specific information to Data Subjects
depending on whether the information was collected directly from Data Subjects or from elsewhere.
Such information must be provided through appropriate Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices
which must be concise, transparent, intelligible, easily accessible, and in clear and plain language so
that a Data Subject can easily understand them.
Whenever we collect Personal Data directly from Data Subjects, including for human resources or
employment purposes, we must provide the Data Subject with all the information required by the
GDPR including the identity of the Data Controller and DPO, how and why we will use, Process,
disclose, protect and retain that Personal Data through a Fair Processing Notice which must be
presented when the Data Subject first provides the Personal Data..
When Personal Data is collected indirectly (for example, from a third party or publically available
.

8

27

source), you must provide the Data Subject with all the information required by the GDPR as soon as
possible after collecting/receiving the data. You must also check that the Personal Data was collected
by the third party in accordance with the GDPR and on a basis which contemplates our proposed
Processing of that Personal Data.
You should always check the Intranet (see earlier hyperlinks) for any guidelines on drafting Privacy
Notices/Fair Processing Notices.
6. PURPOSE LIMITATION
Personal Data must be collected only for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes. It must not be
further Processed in any manner incompatible with those purposes.
You cannot use Personal Data for new, different or incompatible purposes from that disclosed when
it was first obtained unless you have informed the Data Subject of the new purposes and they have
Consented where necessary.
7. DATA MINIMISATION
Personal Data must be adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the
purposes for which it is Processed.
You may only Process Personal Data when performing your job duties (or in the case of an elected
member, your ward duties or duties as an elected member generally) require it. You cannot Process
Personal Data for any reason unrelated to your job/member duties.
You may only collect Personal Data that you require for your job/member duties: do not collect
excessive data. Ensure any Personal Data collected is adequate and relevant for the intended
purposes.
You must ensure that when Personal Data is no longer needed for specified purposes, it is deleted
or anonymised in accordance with the Council’s data retention guidelines.
8. ACCURACY
Personal Data must be accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date. It must be corrected or
deleted without delay when inaccurate.
You will ensure that the Personal Data we use and hold is accurate, complete, kept up to date and
relevant to the purpose for which we collected it. You must check the accuracy of any Personal Data
at the point of collection and at regular intervals afterwards. You must take all reasonable steps to
destroy or amend inaccurate or out-of-date Personal Data.
9. STORAGE LIMITATION
Personal Data must not be kept in an identifiable form for longer than is necessary for the purposes
for which the data is processed.
.

9

28

You must not keep Personal Data in a form which permits the identification of the Data Subject for
longer than needed for the legitimate business purpose or purposes for which we originally collected
it including for the purpose of satisfying any legal, accounting or reporting requirements.
The Council will maintain retention policies and procedures to ensure Personal Data is deleted after
a reasonable time for the purposes for which it was being held, unless a law requires such data to
be kept for a minimum time. You must comply with the Council’s guidelines on Data Retention which
can be found in our Information Assets Register at the Intranet page referred to earlier in this policy.
You will take all reasonable steps to destroy or erase from our systems all Personal Data that we no
longer require in accordance with all the Council’s applicable records retention schedules and
policies. This includes requiring third parties to delete such data where applicable.
You will ensure Data Subjects are informed of the period for which data is stored and how that
period is determined in any applicable Privacy Notice or Fair Processing Notice.
10. SECURITY INTEGRITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY
10.1 PROTECTING PERSONAL DATA
Personal Data must be secured by appropriate technical and organisational measures against
unauthorised or unlawful Processing, and against accidental loss, destruction or damage.
We will develop, implement and maintain safeguards appropriate to our size, scope and business,
our available resources, the amount of Personal Data that we own or maintain on behalf of others
and identified risks (including use of encryption and Pseudonymisation where applicable). We will
regularly evaluate and test the effectiveness of those safeguards to ensure security of our
Processing of Personal Data. You are responsible for protecting the Personal Data we hold. You
must implement reasonable and appropriate security measures against unlawful or unauthorised
Processing of Personal Data and against the accidental loss of, or damage to, Personal Data. You
must exercise particular care in protecting Sensitive Personal Data from loss and unauthorised
access, use or disclosure.
You must follow all procedures and technologies we put in place to maintain the security of all
Personal Data from the point of collection to the point of destruction. You may only transfer
Personal Data to third-party service providers who agree to comply with the required policies and
procedures and who agree to put adequate measures in place, as requested.
You must maintain data security by protecting the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the
Personal Data, defined as follows:
(a) Confidentiality means that only people who have a need to know and are authorised to use
the Personal Data can access it.
(b) Integrity means that Personal Data is accurate and suitable for the purpose for which it is
processed.
(c) Availability means that authorised users are able to access the Personal Data when they
need it for authorised purposes.
You must comply with and not attempt to circumvent the administrative, physical and technical
.

10

29

safeguards we implement and maintain in accordance with the GDPR and relevant standards to
protect Personal Data.

10.2 REPORTING A PERSONAL DATA BREACH
The GDPR requires Data Controllers to notify any Personal Data Breach to the applicable
regulator (the Information Commissioner) and, in certain instances, the Data Subject.
We have put in place procedures to deal with any suspected Personal Data Breach and will notify
Data Subjects or any applicable regulator where we are legally required to do so.
If you know or suspect that a Personal Data Breach has occurred, do not attempt to investigate the
matter yourself. Immediately contact the DPO or in his/her absence the Legal Team. You should
preserve all evidence relating to the potential Personal Data Breach.
The Council has a Personal Data Breach protocol which can be found here: [Link]

11. TRANSFER LIMITATION
The GDPR restricts data transfers to countries outside the EEA in order to ensure that the level of
data protection afforded to individuals by the GDPR is not undermined. You transfer Personal
Data originating in one country across borders when you transmit, send, view or access that data
in or to a different country.
You may only transfer Personal Data outside the EEA if one of the following conditions applies:
(a) the European Commission has issued a decision confirming that the country to which we
transfer the Personal Data ensures an adequate level of protection for the Data Subjects’
rights and freedoms. Currently these countries are Andorra, Argentina, Canada, Faeroe
Islands, Guernsey, Israel, Isle of Man, Jersey, New Zealand, Switzerland and Uruguay but
you can find updates at the following link: EU website;
(b) appropriate safeguards are in place such as binding corporate rules (BCR), standard
contractual clauses approved by the European Commission, an approved code of conduct
or a certification mechanism;
(c) the Data Subject has provided Explicit Consent to the proposed transfer after being
informed of any potential risks; or
(d) the transfer is necessary for one of the other reasons set out in the GDPR including the
performance of a contract between us and the Data Subject, reasons of public interest, to
establish, exercise or defend legal claims or to protect the vital interests of the Data Subject
where the Data Subject is physically or legally incapable of giving Consent.

.

11

30

12. DATA SUBJECT’S RIGHTS AND REQUESTS
Data Subjects have rights when it comes to how we handle their Personal Data. These include
rights to:
(a) withdraw Consent to Processing at any time;
(b) receive certain information about the Data Controller’s Processing activities;
(c) request access to their Personal Data that we hold;
(d) prevent our use of their Personal Data for direct marketing purposes;
(e) ask us to erase Personal Data if it is no longer necessary in relation to the purposes for
which it was collected or Processed or to rectify inaccurate data or to complete incomplete
data;
(f) restrict Processing in specific circumstances;
(g) challenge Processing which has been justified on the basis of the public interest;
(h) request a copy of an agreement under which Personal Data is transferred outside of the
EEA;
(i) object to decisions based solely on Automated Processing, including profiling (ADM);
(j) prevent Processing that is likely to cause damage or distress to the Data Subject or anyone
else;
(k) be notified of a Personal Data Breach which is likely to result in high risk to their rights and
freedoms;
(l) make a complaint to the supervisory authority; and
(m) in limited circumstances, receive or ask for their Personal Data to be transferred to a third
party in a structured, commonly used and machine readable format.
You must verify the identity of an individual requesting data under any of the rights listed above (do
not allow third parties to persuade you into disclosing Personal Data without proper authorisation).
Full procedures can be found here [Link]
You must immediately forward any Data Subject request you receive to the Council’s Corporate
Improvement and Performance Team.

13. ACCOUNTABILITY
13.1The Data Controller (in most cases the Council) must implement appropriate technical and
organisational measures in an effective manner, to ensure compliance with data protection
principles. The Data Controller is responsible for, and must be able to demonstrate, compliance with
the data protection principles.
.

12

31

The Council must have adequate resources and controls in place to ensure and to document GDPR
compliance including:
(a) appointing a suitably qualified DPO and an officer accountable for data privacy;
(b) implementing Privacy by Design when Processing Personal Data and completing DPIAs
where Processing presents a high risk to rights and freedoms of Data Subjects;
(c) integrating data protection into internal documents including this Policy, Related Policies,
Privacy Guidelines, Privacy Notices or Fair Processing Notices;
(d) regularly training Council Personnel on the GDPR, this Policy, Related Policies and Privacy
Guidelines and data protection matters including, for example, Data Subject’s rights,
Consent, legal basis, DPIA and Personal Data Breaches. The Council must maintain a
record of training attendance by Council Personnel; and
(e) regularly testing the privacy measures implemented and conducting periodic reviews and
audits to assess compliance, including using results of testing to demonstrate compliance
improvement effort.
13.2 RECORD KEEPING
The GDPR requires us to keep full and accurate records of all our data Processing activities.
You must keep and maintain accurate corporate records reflecting our Processing including
records of Data Subjects’ Consents and procedures for obtaining Consents.
These records should include, at a minimum, the name and contact details of the Data Controller
and the DPO, clear descriptions of the Personal Data types, Data Subject types, Processing
activities, Processing purposes, third-party recipients of the Personal Data, Personal Data storage
locations, Personal Data transfers, the Personal Data’s retention period and a description of the
security measures in place.
13.3 TRAINING AND AUDIT
We are required to ensure that all Council Personnel have undergone adequate training to enable
them to comply with data privacy laws. We must also regularly test our systems and processes to
assess compliance.
You must undergo all mandatory data privacy related training and ensure your team undergo
similar mandatory training.
You must regularly review all the systems and processes under your control to ensure they comply
with this Policy and check that adequate governance controls and resources are in place to ensure
proper use and protection of Personal Data.
13.4 PRIVACY BY DESIGN AND DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA)
We are required to implement Privacy by Design measures when Processing Personal Data by
implementing appropriate technical and organisational measures (like Pseudonymisation) in an
effective manner, to ensure compliance with data privacy principles.
.

13

32

You must assess what Privacy by Design measures can be implemented on all
programs/systems/processes that Process Personal Data by taking into account the following:
(a) the state of the art;
(b) the cost of implementation;
(c) the nature, scope, context and purposes of Processing; and
(d) the risks of varying likelihood and severity for rights and freedoms of Data Subjects posed
by the Processing.
Data controllers must also conduct DPIAs in respect to high risk Processing.
You should conduct a DPIA (and discuss your findings with the DPO) when implementing major
system or business change programs involving the Processing of Personal Data including:
(e) use of new technologies (programs, systems or processes), or changing technologies
(programs, systems or processes);
(f)

Automated Processing including profiling and ADM;

(g) large scale Processing of Sensitive Data; and
(h) large scale, systematic monitoring of a publicly accessible area.
A DPIA must include:
(i)

a description of the Processing and its purposes;

(j)

an assessment of the necessity and proportionality of the Processing in relation to its
purpose;

(k) an assessment of the risk to individuals; and
(l)

the risk mitigation measures in place and demonstration of compliance.

13.5 AUTOMATED PROCESSING (INCLUDING PROFILING) AND AUTOMATED DECISIONMAKING
Generally, ADM is prohibited when a decision has a legal or similar significant effect on an
individual unless:
(a) a Data Subject has Explicitly Consented;
(b) the Processing is authorised by law; or
(c) the Processing is necessary for the performance of or entering into a contract.
If certain types of Sensitive Data are being processed, then grounds (b) or (c) will not be allowed
.

14

33

but such Sensitive Data can be Processed where it is necessary (unless less intrusive means can
be used) for substantial public interest like fraud prevention.
If a decision is to be based solely on Automated Processing (including profiling), then Data
Subjects must be informed when you first communicate with them of their right to object. This right
must be explicitly brought to their attention and presented clearly and separately from other
information. Further, suitable measures must be put in place to safeguard the Data Subject’s rights
and freedoms and legitimate interests.
We must also inform the Data Subject of the logic involved in the decision making or profiling, the
significance and envisaged consequences and give the Data Subject the right to request human
intervention, express their point of view or challenge the decision.
A DPIA must be carried out before any Automated Processing (including profiling) or ADM
activities are undertaken.

13.6 DIRECT MARKETING
We are subject to certain rules and privacy laws when marketing to our customers.
For example, a Data Subject’s prior consent is required for electronic direct marketing (for
example, by email, text or automated calls). The limited exception for existing customers known as
“soft opt in” allows organisations to send marketing texts or emails if they have obtained contact
details in the course of a sale to that person, they are marketing similar products or services, and
they gave the person an opportunity to opt out of marketing when first collecting the details and in
every subsequent message.
The right to object to direct marketing must be explicitly offered to the Data Subject in an intelligible
manner so that it is clearly distinguishable from other information.
A Data Subject’s objection to direct marketing must be promptly honoured. If a customer opts out
at any time, their details should be suppressed as soon as possible. Suppression involves
retaining just enough information to ensure that marketing preferences are respected in the future.
You must comply with any Council guidelines on direct marketing to customers.
13.7 SHARING PERSONAL DATA
Generally we are not allowed to share Personal Data with third parties unless certain safeguards
and contractual arrangements have been put in place.
You may only share the Personal Data internally if the recipient has a job-related need to know the
information.
You may only share the Personal Data we hold with third parties, such as our service providers if:
(a) they have a need to know the information for the purposes of providing the contracted
services;
.

15

34

(b) sharing the Personal Data complies with the Privacy Notice provided to the Data Subject
and, if required, the Data Subject’s Consent has been obtained;
(c) the third party has agreed to comply with the required data security standards, policies and
procedures and put adequate security measures in place;
(d) the transfer complies with any applicable cross border transfer restrictions; and
(e) a fully executed written contract that contains GDPR approved third party clauses has been
obtained.
14. CHANGES TO THIS POLICY
We reserve the right to change this Policy at any time without notice to you so please check back
regularly to obtain the latest copy of this Policy.
This Policy does not override any applicable national data privacy laws and regulations.

.

16

35

Data Security Breach Procedure
Introduction
All information security incidents must be reported to the Legal Team. This enables an
internal investigation, with a view to determining what action should be taken and
whether the incident should be reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office.
Even if information has not been lost, but the incident may be classed as a ‘near
miss’ this should be reported to your manager. An example here might be a
member of staff taking sensitive information home without authority, but returning it
safely the next day.
Note: if we need to self-report to the ICO this must be done within 72 hours
Actions

Responsibilities and Duties

1
Employee

2
CIP Team

3
DPO

All identified incidents must be reported to the Council’s Legal Team as
soon as they are detected. The Legal Team will notify the DPO
If the incident is identified via a complaint, the CIP Team will appoint
an investigating officer from the service area where the incident has
originated, and the matter will managed under the Corporate
Complaints Procedure
If the incident has not been reported through the Complaints process,
the DPO will appoint a senior officer within the service area to
investigate the incident and establish why it happened, whether or not
it constitutes a breach and what remedial action is necessary. The
investigating officer will keep the Legal Team regularly updated on
progress.

4
Investigating
Officer

The investigating officer will take professional advice as required from
the DPO, CIP Team, Legal Services, and HR.

5

Establish the following and advise the Legal Team as soon as possible:

Employee
Investigating
Officer







The extent of the breach
The amount of information involved
The sensitivity of information involved
A timeline of dates and times concerning the incident
The potential for loss or damage to individuals, the Council or any
other body
 What measures need to be taken and how quickly (for example: can
the information be recovered? Do any individuals or organisations
need to be notified? Do the Police need to be notified?)

36

Actions

Responsibilities and Duties

6
Unless considered to be a very minor breach of security, carry out and
Investigating document a risk assessment. Depending upon the outcome of the
risk assessment, use the letter template in Annex 1 to inform those
Officer
affected by the breach.
7
Investigating
Officer
8
DPO

Report the loss of data to the police as required, and notify the
Council’s DPO whenever the police are involved.
Consider convening a meeting as appropriate involving people who
are likely to have an active role in remedying the breach or dealing
with any of the outside parties involved. Maintain an action plan
tasking individuals with assisting the investigation as necessary.

9
Investigating Consider whether written statements may be needed. If so, first consult
with the Legal Team and the HR Team if it is considered that
Officer
Disciplinary action may be required at some point.
10
Investigating If information has been sent to the wrong address, retrieve the
information as soon as possible, using the letter template in Annex 1
Officer
or via a home visit as appropriate.
11
Always consider involving the Council’s Communications team early
Investigating on and keeping them updated.
Officer
12
As part of the process of identifying the cause of the breach, try to
Investigating consider measures that can be put in place to eliminate or reduce the
chances of a reoccurrence. Where these are obvious, put them in
Officer
place straight away; where these would need further discussion, report
them to the DPO.
13
Where the incident has been treated as a complaint, the investigating
Investigating officer will draft a response for the complainant and have it reviewed
by the Legal Team and the DPO. The response will be sent to the
Officer
complainant by the CIP Team.

37

ANNEX 1 – letter to individual whose data has been breached
Actions

Responsibilities and Duties

14

Provide a final written briefing to the DPO. If the DPO concludes that
the breach should be reported to the Information Commissioner,
Investigating complete a formal breach notification form and send it to the Legal
Team and the DPO for review
Officer

15
Legal team/
DPO

Submit ICO Breach notification form (if required) and address any
outstanding legal issues (e.g. injunction proceedings).
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/report-a-breach/personal-databreach/
Notify appropriate Portfolio Holder(s)

Further guidance
available (links to
useful documents)
Related policies &
procedures

https://ico.org.uk/media/fororganisations/documents/1536/breach_reporting.pdf
Disciplinary Procedure
Data Protection Policy

Golden rules for reporting and investigating data breaches
Remember:
 Do not keep a breach to yourself, even if you feel there has been no harm
arising.
 Do not seek to apportion blame – the main object of this procedure is to
address the breach and improve our processes.
 This procedure is not confined to breaches involving personal data only. Any
uncontrolled information loss is important.
 Be honest with the facts.
 Be thorough in investigating or assisting with any investigation.
Contact details
Mark Stinson
Data Protection Officer
Tel: 07899 061277
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy
Legal Services Manager
Tel: 07970 248422

Letter to notify that personal data has been breached
I write to you to bring to your attention a breach of the Data Protection Act 1998 that

38

ANNEX 1 – letter to individual whose data has been breached
Dear ____________
[provide a short description of the breach] which unfortunately involves your
personal data.
Please be assured that we are taking this matter very seriously and are investigating
the matter / have concluded our investigation into it.
The facts in this matter are <give description of what has happened>.
<State what remedial action(s) have been carried out>
<State what has been done to prevent a reoccurrence>
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this letter, please get in touch with
me.
I would again like to apologise for the incident of which you may have, until now,
been unaware.

Yours sincerely,

39

ANNEX 2 – letter to person who has received personal data in error
Letter to retrieve information in response to notification by service user
[refer to any letter or telephone call from them telling us about having received the
information in error – thanking them as appropriate].
[otherwise, explain the incident and that we believe that they have received
information in error].
As you would imagine we have taken this matter very seriously and have concluded
our investigation into it.
The facts in this matter are <give description of what has happened>.
Could you please return the document(s) to me at the address below by <date 10
days from now>.
<State what remedial action(s) have been carried out>
<State what has been done to prevent a reoccurrence>
I hope this letter has allayed your fears as to the integrity of your own information and
documents and can I again thank you for bringing this case to our attention enabling
us to take appropriate action.
Yours sincerely,

40

Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

These procedures need to be read in conjunction with the Council’s Data Protection Policy and any guidance that
may be issued from time to time by the Information Commissioner’s Office.
The Council’s Corporate Improvement and Performance (CIP) Team will co-ordinate all requests under these
procedures.
Where requests are made for erasure or restriction of personal data, not to be subject to automated decisionmaking, or where an objection to processing is received, the officer dealing with the request/objection must
consult with the Legal Team before processing the request. This is extremely important particularly as certain
personal data must not be erased and must continue to be processed where, for example, the Council needs to
process the data in order to perform a statutory duty – such as collecting Council Tax.

1. ABOUT THESE PROCEDURES
1.1

Data subjects have certain rights in respect of their personal data. When we process data subjects’
personal data, we shall respect those rights. These procedures provide a framework for responding to
requests to exercise those rights. It is our policy to ensure that requests by data subjects covered by
these procedures to exercise their rights in respect of their personal data are handled in accordance with
applicable law.

1.2

For the purposes of these procedures, “personal data” means any information relating to an identified or
identifiable data subject. An identifiable data subject is anyone who can be identified, directly or indirectly,
by reference to an identifier, such as a name, identification number or online identifier. “Processing”
means any operation or set of operations that is performed on personal data, such as collection, use,
storage, dissemination and destruction.

1.3

These procedures only apply to data subjects whose personal data we process.

2. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO ACCESS PERSONAL DATA
2.1

Data subjects have the right to request access to their personal data processed by us. Such requests are
called Subject Access Requests (SARs). When a data subject makes an SAR we shall take the following
steps:
(a) log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month
for responding to the request is met) – all SARs must be passed to the CIP Team for allocation and
co-ordination;
(b) confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. For example, we may
request additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm
their identity;
(c) search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the
subject of the request may be held; and
(d) confirm to the data subject whether or not personal data of the data subject making the SAR are
being processed.

2.2 If personal data of the data subject are being processed, we shall provide the data subject with the
following information in a concise, transparent, intelligible and easily accessible form, using clear and
plain language, in writing or by other (including electronic) means:
© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved.

1

41

Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

(a) the purposes of the processing;
(b) the categories of personal data concerned (for example, contact details, bank account information
and details of sales activity);
(c) the recipients or categories of recipient to whom the personal data have been or will be disclosed, in
particular recipients overseas (for example, US-based service providers);
(d) where possible, the envisaged period for which the personal data will be stored, or, if not possible,
the criteria used to determine that period;
(e) the existence of the right to request rectification or erasure of personal data or restriction of
processing of personal data or to object to such processing;
(f)

the right to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO);

(g) where the personal data are not collected from the data subject, any available information as to their
source;
(h) the existence of any automated decision-making in relation to the subject’s personal data and
meaningful information about the logic involved, as well as the significance and the envisaged
consequences of such processing for the data subject; and
(i)

where personal data are transferred outside the EU, details of the appropriate safeguards to protect
the personal data.

2.3

We shall also, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), provide the data subject with a
copy of the personal data processed by us in a commonly used electronic form (unless the data subject
either did not make the request by electronic means or has specifically requested not to be provided with
the copy in electronic form) within one month of receipt of the request. If the request is complex, or there
are a number of requests, we may extend the period for responding by a further two months. If we extend
the period for responding we shall inform the data subject within one month of receipt of the request and
explain the reason(s) for the delay.

2.4

Before providing the personal data to the data subject making the SAR, we shall review the personal data
requested to see if they contain the personal data of other data subjects. If they do, we may redact the
personal data of those other data subjects prior to providing the data subject with their personal data,
unless those other data subjects have consented to the disclosure of their personal data.

2.5

If the SAR is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we may
charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of providing the personal data, or
refuse to act on the request.

2.6

If we are not going to respond to the SAR we shall inform the data subject of the reason(s) for not taking
action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.

3. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO RECTIFY PERSONAL DATA
3.1

Data subjects have the right to have their inaccurate personal data rectified. Rectification can include
having incomplete personal data completed, for example, by a data subject providing a supplementary
statement regarding the data. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see
Paragraph 9 below), rectify the personal data without undue delay.

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved.

2

42

Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

3.2

All requests for rectification of Personal Data must be passed to the CIP Team for allocation and coordination. We shall also communicate the rectification of the personal data to each recipient to whom the
personal data have been disclosed (for example, our third party service providers who process the data
on our behalf), unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall also inform the data
subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.

4. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS FOR THE ERASURE OF PERSONAL DATA
4.1

Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, to request that we erase their personal data.
Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), erase
the personal data without undue delay if:
(a) the personal data are no longer necessary in relation to the purposes for which they were collected
or otherwise processed;
(b) the data subject withdraws their consent to the processing of their personal data and consent was
the basis on which the personal data were processed and there is no other legal basis for the
processing;
(c) the data subject objects to the processing of their personal data on the basis of our performance of a
task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in us, unless we
either can show compelling legitimate grounds for the processing which override the data subject’s
interests or fundamental rights and freedoms, or we are processing the data for the establishment,
exercise or defence of legal claims;
(d) the data subject objects to the processing of their personal data for direct marketing purposes;
(e) the personal data have been unlawfully processed;
(f)

the personal data have to be erased for compliance with a legal obligation to which we are subject;
or

(g) the personal data have been collected in relation to the offer of e-commerce or other online services.
4.2

When a data subject makes a request for erasure in the circumstances set out above, we shall, unless
there is an exemption (see Paragraph 4.5 and Paragraph 9 below), take the following steps:
(a) log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month
for responding to the request is met) – all requests for erasure must be passed to the CIP Team for
allocation and co-ordination;
(b) confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. We may request
additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm their
identity;
(c) search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the
subject of the request may be held and erase such data within one month of receipt of the request. If
the request is complex, or there are a number of requests, we may extend the period for responding
by a further two months. If we extend the period for responding we shall inform the data subject
within one month of receipt of the request and explain the reason(s) for the delay;
(d) where we have made the personal data public, we must, taking reasonable steps, including technical
measures, inform those who are processing the personal data that the data subject has requested
the erasure by them of any links to, or copies or replications of, those personal data; and

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved.

3

43

Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

(e) communicate the erasure of the personal data to each recipient to whom the personal data have
been disclosed unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall also inform the
data subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.
4.3

If the request is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we
may charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of erasure, or refuse to act on
the request.

4.4

If we are not going to respond to the request we shall inform the data subject of the reasons for not taking
action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.

4.5

In addition to the exemptions in Paragraph 9 below, we can also refuse to erase the personal data to the
extent processing is necessary:
(a) for exercising the right of freedom of expression and information;
(b) for compliance with a legal obligation which requires processing by law and to which we are subject
or for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority
vested in us;
(c) for reasons of public interest in the area of public health;
(d) for archiving purposes in the public interest, scientific or historical research purposes, or statistical
purposes in so far as the right to erasure is likely to render impossible or seriously impair the
achievement of the objectives of that processing; or
(e) for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims.

5. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS TO RESTRICT THE PROCESSING OF PERSONAL DATA
5.1

Data subjects have the right, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), to restrict the
processing of their personal data if:
(a) the data subject contests the accuracy of the personal data, for a period to allow us to verify the
accuracy of the personal data;
(b) the processing is unlawful and the data subject opposes the erasure of the personal data and
requests the restriction of their use instead;
(c) we no longer need the personal data for the purposes we collected them, but they are required by
the data subject for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims; and
(d) the data subject has objected to the processing, pending verification of whether we have legitimate
grounds to override the data subject’s objection.

5.2

All such requests to restrict processing must be passed to the Council’s CIP Team. Where processing has
been restricted, we shall only process the personal data (excluding storing them):
(a) with the data subject’s consent;
(b) for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims;
(c) for the protection of the rights of another person; or

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved.

4

44

Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

(d) for reasons of important public interest.
5.3

Prior to lifting the restriction, we shall inform the data subject of the lifting of the restriction.

5.4

We shall communicate the restriction of processing of the personal data to each recipient to whom the
personal data have been disclosed, unless this is impossible or involves disproportionate effort. We shall
also inform the data subject about those recipients if the data subject requests it.

6. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS FOR THE PORTABILITY OF PERSONAL DATA
6.1

Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, to receive their personal data that they have
provided to us in a structured, commonly used and machine-readable format that they can then transmit
to another company. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see
Paragraph 9 below), provide the personal data without undue delay if:
(a) the legal basis for the processing of the personal data is consent or pursuant to a contract; and
(b) our processing of those data is automated.

6.2

When a data subject makes a request for portability in the circumstances set out above, we shall take the
following steps:
(a) log the date on which the request was received (to ensure that the relevant timeframe of one month
for responding to the request is met) – all requests for portability must be passed to the CIP Team for
allocation and co-ordination;
(b) confirm the identity of the data subject who is the subject of the personal data. We may request
additional information (such as a passport and utility bill) from the data subject to confirm their
identity;
(c) search databases, systems, applications and other places where the personal data which are the
subject of the request may be held and provide the data subject with such data (or, at the data
subject’s request, transmit the personal data directly to another company, where technically feasible)
within one month of receipt of the request. If the request is complex, or there are a number of
requests, we may extend the period for responding by a further two months. If we extend the period
for responding we shall inform the data subject within one month of receipt of the request and explain
the reason(s) for the delay.

6.3 If the request is manifestly unfounded or excessive, for example, because of its repetitive character, we
may charge a reasonable fee, taking into account the administrative costs of providing or transmitting the
personal data, or refuse to act on the request.
6.4 If we are not going to respond to the request we shall inform the data subject of the reasons for not taking
action and of the possibility of lodging a complaint with the ICO.
7. RESPONDING TO OBJECTIONS TO THE PROCESSING OF PERSONAL DATA
7.1

Data subjects have the right to object to the processing of their personal data where such processing is
on the basis of our performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official
authority vested in us, unless we either:
(a) can show compelling legitimate grounds for the processing which override the data subject’s

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved.

5

45

Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

interests or fundamental rights and freedoms; or
(b) are processing the personal data for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims.
7.2

Data subjects also have the right to object to the processing of their personal data for scientific or
historical research purposes, or statistical purposes, unless the processing is necessary for the
performance of a task carried out for reasons of public interest.

7.3

Where such an objection is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption (see Paragraph 9 below), no
longer process a data subject’s personal data.

7.4

Where personal data are processed for direct marketing purposes, data subjects have the right to object
at any time to the processing of their personal data for such marketing. If a data subject makes such a
request, we shall stop processing the personal data for such purposes.

7.5

All such objections to the processing of personal data must be passed to the CIP Team for allocation and
co-ordination.

8. RESPONDING TO REQUESTS NOT TO BE SUBJECT TO AUTOMATED DECISION-MAKING
8.1

Data subjects have the right, in certain circumstances, not to be subject to a decision based solely on the
automated processing of their personal data, if such decision produces legal effects concerning them or
similarly significantly affects them. Where such a request is made, we shall, unless there is an exemption
(see Paragraph 9 below), no longer make such a decision unless it:
(a) is necessary for entering into, or the performance of, a contract between us and the data subject;
(b) is authorised by applicable law which lays down suitable measures to safeguard the data subject’s
rights, freedoms and legitimate interests; or
(c) is based on the data subject’s explicit consent.

8.2

If the decision falls within Paragraph 8.1(a) or Paragraph 8.1(c), we shall implement suitable measures to
safeguard the data subject’s rights, freedoms and legitimate interests, including the right to obtain human
intervention, to express their point of view and to contest the decision.

8.3

All such requests must be passed to the CIP Team for allocation and co-ordination.

9. EXEMPTIONS
9.1 Before responding to any request we shall check whether there are any exemptions that apply to the
personal data that are the subject of the request. Exemptions may apply where it is necessary and
proportionate not to comply with the requests described above to safeguard:
(a) national security;
(b) defence;
(c) public security;
(d) the prevention, investigation, detection or prosecution of criminal offences or the execution of
© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved.

6

46

Response procedures for data subject requests under GDPR, Practical Law UK...

criminal penalties, including the safeguarding against and the prevention of threats to public security;
(e) other important objectives of general national public interest, in particular an important national
economic or financial interest, including monetary, budgetary and taxation matters, public health and
social security;
(f)

the protection of judicial independence and judicial proceedings;

(g) the prevention, investigation, detection and prosecution of breaches of ethics for regulated
professions;
(h) a monitoring, inspection or regulatory function connected, even occasionally, to the exercise of
official authority in the cases referred to in Paragraph 9.1(a) and Paragraph 9.1(g) above;
(i)

the protection of the data subject or the rights and freedoms of others; or

(j)

the enforcement of civil law claims.

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. All rights reserved.

7

47

Agenda Item 9

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance

To:

Cabinet, 12 June 2018

(Author:

Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation)

Subject:

2017-18 Full Year Financial Performance

Purpose:

This report provides information on the actual full year financial position of
the Council as at 31 March 2018 and progress to date on the Moving
Forward transformation programme.

Recommendation(s):
1)

That the report and appendix be noted.

2)

That Cabinet recommends to Full Council that capital budgets (& associated funding
sources) of £1,694,731 be carried forward into 2018-19 to support projects in progress.

3)

That Cabinet recommends to Full Council that the final capital out-turn and funding for 201718 as detailed in appendix B be approved

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports have been completed forecasting the
expected year end out-turn against the budgets. This report provides information on the
actual full year financial performance for revenue, transformation, capital and treasury,
with the detail being included in the attached appendix. The full statement of accounts will
be reported to Governance and Audit Committee in June.

1.2

Revenue
The overall above budget spend is £182k. This is made up of 2 main areas:
 Service budgets over spend of £334k (this includes efficiencies not achieved of
£279k)
 Above budget funding income of £152k
The major variances identified are:
 Efficiencies not achieved against targets, particularly procurement contracts
savings, service reviews in progress but not completed for 17-18 target, return on
investment and growth fund and garden waste subscribers. (NB. These are
expected to deliver in future years and have been included in the budgets).
 Additional recycling processing costs during the year.
 Lost income through the partial closure of Swaffham Leisure Centre due to water
damage.
 One off in year over spend in Human Resources due to IR35 consultancy costs, itrent development costs and interim staff recruitment.
 Over spends on maintenance to public lighting, which will need recharging via the
Special Expenses to the relevant towns.
 Additional income from Development Control due to major planning applications and
fee increases.

48

 Additional Housing Benefit grant income to cover direct costs (New Burdens
funding)
 Below budget spend in Commercial Property, mainly due to a one off reduction in
an amount set aside for future provisions.
 The net effect of appropriations and Business Rates and Government grants results
in additional grant income mainly relating to Business Rates.
1.3

Moving Forward Transformation Programme
This programme has delivered savings of £1,011k (78%) against a target of £1,290k. The
programme has been flexed in the new year’s budget to reflect the latest positions of
project time frames and will continue to be adjusted throughout the programme as
necessary. Overall the programme has achieved efficiencies of £1,544k by 2020-21, with
a further £1,003k to achieve by this date and these have already been included in the
approved budgets. As time progresses, it becomes more important that these projects
begin on time, to deliver the higher levels of savings required in subsequent years and this
will be monitored through the Finance Board, with areas of concern being a particular
focus for the start of the 2018-19 year.

1.4

Capital
The actual out-turn shows spend of £3,138k (64%) against the budget. There is a small
under spend of £21k and the remaining £1,695k is requested to be carried forward as it
relates to projects which are already in progress, or ready to begin and this report includes
a recommendation to carry these budgets forward into next year. Appendix B details the
funding sources for the capital spend for 2017-18.

1.5

Treasury
The interest income was £33k above budget for the year as a result of loans to 3rd parties
being for a longer duration than initially budgeted, partly offset by reduced interest rates in
the year.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

That the report and appendix be noted and That Cabinet recommends to Full Council that
capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,694,731 be carried forward into
2018-19 to support projects in progress.

2.2

That the report and appendix be noted and that changes are made before recommending
to Full Council that the capital budgets (& associated funding sources) be carried forward
into 2018-19 to support projects in progress.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council,
enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

3.2

To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial year.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council
financial position.

4.2

To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond
quickly to opportunities as they arise.

49

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme;
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1
5.1.1

Corporate Priorities
The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities.

5.2
5.2.1

Financial
The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications.

5.3
5.3.1

Risk Management
Risks are included within the report

5.4
Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those
variances.
5.5
Transformation Programme
5.5.1 The transformation programme is intrinsically linked to the Council’s budget and this report
includes progress on the Moving Forward programme to date.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

N/A.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4

ARP – Anglia Revenues Partnership
LIBID - London Inter-Bank Bid Rate.
NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates
PFI – Private Finance Initiative

Background papers:-

See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
01362 656865
alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

No
No

This report refers to Mandatory Service and Discretionary Services
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Financial report for 2017-18 full year.
Appendix B
Capital funding sources 2017-18.

50

Breckland Council
Financial report for the year ended 31 March 2018
This report has three sections
o Section 1 – Revenue budget and Moving Forward Transformation Programme
o Section 2 – Capital budget
o Section 3 – Treasury update

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income.
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income.
Section 1 - Revenue
Table 1 – Actual Revenue Outturn
Budget
£'000

Actual
Out-turn
£'000

Actual
Variance
£'000

Cost of Services
1) Strategy Governance & Transformation
2) Growth & Commercialisation
3) Place
4) Housing Benefits
5) Cost of Services

5,633
849
5,924
(96)
12,310

5,632
616
6,020
(70)
12,198

(1)
(233)
96
26
(112)

6) Contributions to/from reserves
7) Total Cost of Services

(219)
12,091

227
12,425

446
334

754
(5,444)
(3,414)
(3,987)
(12,091)

1,936
(6,045)
(3,461)
(4,673)
(12,243)

1,182
(601)
(47)
(686)
(152)

-

182

182

Funding & Appropriations
8) Appropriations
9) Government grants
10) Council Tax
11) Retained Business Rates
12) Total Funding
Contribution (to)/from the General Fund
Significant variances are detailed over the page.

Salaries
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2017-18 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues
Partnership (ARP) staff.
The achieved vacancy factor is 0.93% above target, but the over achievement is mainly within
the ARP area.

Page 1 of 7

51

Table 2 - Significant Variances
Cost Centre

Total
Budget
£

Total
Variance
£

Comments

1) High Impact
1a) Efficiencies Achieved

(136,205)

136,205

247,090

73,502

1c) Public Lighting

64,886

62,363

1d) Garden Waste

(1,211,290)

50,790

1b) Recycling processing costs

Efficiencies achieved to date (including some moving forward targets) are below budget. Work has
started on the majority of projects to deliver the savings, however the areas of concern are raised at
the Finance Board to ensure we keep on track for the overall savings targets.
The processing costs in 17-18 were higher than anticipated, negotiations are taking place regarding
the costs for 2018-19 and future.
Over spends on repairs to lights. This will need to be recharged via the Special Expenses to 3
market towns which will significantly increase the cost to the Council Tax payer in the short term
and may affect the Council’s ability to change Council Tax in future years.
This budget had a target efficiency of £209k and has made excellent progress in meeting this,
however still has a further £51k to meet. Work is continuing to review for 18-19 to determine if the
efficiency can be reached.

2) High Opportunity
2a) Appropriations

52

753,792

1,208,212

(3,987,847)

(684,543)

3a) Human Resources

438,020

84,020

3b) PFI

347,914

62,916

(363,000)

(66,726)

3d) Government Grants

(5,444,308)

(600,621)

3e) Commercial Property

(1,862,360)

(204,367)

4a) Miscellaneous

11,168,771

15,229

(99,201)

(81,793)

2b) Retained NNDR

This variance relates to additional renewable energy and business rates income, which has been
included in future years budgets and offsets the credit within retained NNDR. The remainder of this
variance is offset by the additional income in Government grants.
This includes the renewable energy and growth income which is realised in future years and this is
offset by the appropriations code.

3) One Offs

3c) Housing Benefit Direct Costs

4b) Development Control

Over spends in year relate mainly to IR35 consultancy costs, i-trent development costs and interim
staff recruitment. These are only expected to affect 17-18 and will not impact in future years.
Following the partial opening of Swaffham Leisure Centre (due to water damage) since September
2017 the Council have been liable (as per the terms of the management agreement with Parkwood
Leisure) for their loss of income.
Additional grant income received and retained in year compared to the budgeted amount.
Additional funding received relating to New Homes Bonus returned funding and NNDR grants to
offset costs of mandatory reliefs. This mostly offsets the variance within appropriations.
This majority of this value relates to a reduction in the amount set aside to fund potential provisions
as the amounts are now more certain. In addition there are small savings within salaries and
additional income compared to budgets.
Net effect of other smaller value variances
This variance is mainly due to additional income from major planning applications which has been
offset in part by additional expenditure. In addition the planning fees increase has led to increased
income but this is offset within contributions to reserves as it is earmarked for future spend on
planning activities. This has been factored into future year’s budgets.
Page 2 of 7

Cost Centre

Total
Budget
£

Total
Variance
£

302,968

(99,926)

(219,230)

226,790

-

182,051

Comments

4) Low Impact
4c) Thetford Enterprise
4d) Contributions from reserves
5) TOTAL

This budget is reserve funded and therefore a lower than expected spend has a nil impact on the
overall budget.
This offsets underspends in other areas, such as Thetford Enterprise Park, Development Control
and also includes contributions to provisions for service review costs.

53
Page 3 of 7

Collection Funds
Council Tax
The Council Tax collection fund account has a residual surplus of £477k overall, with Breckland’s
share being £47k. The out-turn for 2017-18 is a surplus of £488k due to increased tax base with
Breckland’s share being £48k, which has been incorporated into future years budgets.
Retained Business Rates

The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account has a residual deficit of £126k overall,
with Breckland’s share being £50k. The out-turn for 2017-18 is a surplus of £855k with Breckland’s
share being £342k, which has been incorporated into future years budgets. NNDR income will be
affected by any appeals which are made in future years.
Virement Decisions Required
There are no virement decisions required.
Other Risks
The following areas are financial risks which the Council is facing, but the actual financial implications
have not yet been quantified:
o Footway lighting costs are recharged to some of the towns through a special expense. The
costs are higher than the amount we are able to recover through the special expenses for
those years as they are subject to the Council Tax capping rules. This will leave a deficit
balance which may be recoverable in future years if capping levels change or costs for those
towns reduce. There are on-going discussions with all relevant parties, including Norfolk
County Council and the relevant towns to see what action can be taken to deliver a more
sustainable service
o A major commercial unit remains vacant which could have an impact ongoing into next year
Full risk registers are held within the corporate improvement team.
Actions/Decisions
o None

Page 4 of 7

54

Moving Forward Transformation Programme
The Council’s transformation programme forms an integral part of the Medium Term Financial Plan and once delivered will reduce reliance on central
government funding by the end of the medium term. The programme includes a number of different projects within each of the four themes and progress
against these projects and their related efficiency targets are monitored by the transformation boards.
The programme is has delivered most of the 2017-18 efficiencies and the enabling projects, however this is dependent on projects starting on time and
delivering the full efficiency target in year. The year-end shortfall in achievement of projects is £279k, the under-achievement is a timing issue and the
efficiencies are still expected to be achieved over the programme term. The ‘Delivery Unit’ will begin to push forward the projects which are programmed
to deliver growth via the investment and growth fund. Some projects have overachieved on their targets and others have been slightly delayed, but are
due to achieve over the term of the programme and the net result is an achievement of £1,011k, 78% of the full year’s target. Re-profiling of project start
and end dates are made as necessary.
As time progresses, it becomes more important that the projects begin on time, to deliver the higher levels of savings required in subsequent years and
this is monitored through the transformation boards. The full transformation programme will be refreshed as part of the budget process.
The table below shows the progress against the programme as at 31 March 2018.

55
Year
2017-18
2018-19
2019-20
2020-21
2021-22

Target
£'000
(27)
(28)
(28)
(28)
(28)

Digitalisation
Achieved Balance
£'000
£'000
(35)
(8)
(36)
(8)
(36)
(8)
(36)
(8)
(36)
(8)

Minimum
Target
Maximum

£36k
£28k
£36k

Commercialisation
Target Achieved Balance
£'000
£'000
£'000
(945)
(643)
302
(1,135)
(747)
388
(1,363)
(796)
567
(1,501)
(771)
730
(1,581)
(828)
753

Organisational Design
Target Achieved Balance
£'000
£'000
£'000
(257)
(212)
45
(612)
(466)
146
(937)
(674)
263
(937)
(653)
284
(937)
(668)
269

Aligning Public Services
Target Achieved Balance
£'000
£'000
£'000
(61)
(49)
12
(81)
(66)
15
(81)
(66)
15
(81)
(66)
15
(81)
(66)
15

Target
£'000
0
0
0
0
0

Minimum
Target
Maximum

Minimum
Target
Maximum

Minimum
Target
Maximum

Minimum
Target
Maximum

£828k
£1,581k
£1,743k

£668k
£937k
£937k

Page 5 of 7

£81k
£81k
£81k

Other
Achieved
£'000
(72)
(18)
(18)
(18)
(18)

Balance
£'000
(72)
(18)
(18)
(18)
(18)
£18k
£0k
£18k

Target
£'000
(1,290)
(1,856)
(2,409)
(2,547)
(2,627)

TOTAL
Achieved
£'000
(1,011)
(1,333)
(1,590)
(1,544)
(1,616)

Minimum
Target
Maximum

Balance
£'000
279
523
819
1,003
1,011
£1,631k
£2,627k
£2,815k

Section 2 - Capital
Table 1 - Progress against 17-18 approved capital programme

Commercialisation
Property (Land & Buildings)
Capital grants
Capital loans
Not yet released
Total Commercialisation

Budget
£

Actual
Out-turn
£

Actual
(under)/overspend
£

1,030,821
610,219
512,360
2,153,400

795,987
590,557
1,386,544

(234,834)
(19,662)
(512,360)
(766,856)

500,000
500,000

428,068
428,068

(71,932)
(71,932)

283,045
1,415,960
501,702
2,200,707
4,854,107

261,314
1,061,967
1,323,281
3,137,893

(21,731)
(353,993)
(501,702)
(877,426)
(1,716,214)

Strategy & Governance
ICT & Organisational Change
Not yet released
Total Strategy & Governance
Place
Property (Land & Buildings)
Grants
Not yet released
Total Place
TOTAL

Actual outturn

£3,137,893 or 64.6%

Table 2 - The variance is shown below:
Project
Commercialisation
Riverside
Re-investment
Strategy
Capital Loans
Other Miscellaneous
Strategy & Governance
ICT
Place
Disabled Facilities
Grants (DFG)
Enhancement
Grants
Joint Use Swaffham
Public Lighting
Car Park Surfacing
Other Miscellaneous
Total

(under)/
over spend
£

Carry over
to Future
£

-

(230,609)
(512,360)

-

(19,662)
(4,226)

Funding for fit out of remaining units once let agreed.
Funding for disposal & re-investment in higher
performing assets (funded by capital receipts).
Balance of loans not yet drawn down.
Other smaller value variances

-

(71,932)

Remaining infrastructure work continuing into 18-19.

-

(177,509)

-

(110,324)

-

(200,000)
(340,000)

(21,483)
(21,483)

(21,731)
(6,378)
(1,694,731)

Remaining un-spent balance to be carried over (with
£162k funding also carried over).
Remaining un-spent balance to be carried over (fully
funded).
Balance not yet spent but required in future years.
Funding not released in 17-18, therefore will be
required in 18-19 to fund programme of works
Balance to be carried forward for 18-19 works.
Other smaller value variances
= (£1,716,214) Total

Virements this qtr:
o None
Risks:
o The affordable housing budget of £818k is partly funded from S106 funding. £206k of this
S106 funding has a time restriction and must be spent by September 2018.
Actions/Decisions

o Recommend to Full Council that the balance of £1,694,731 is carried forward to 201819 to fund the capital projects.
Page 6 of 7

56

Section 3 – Treasury
Security
The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in low investment returns.
Maximum
risk level
0.060%
0.060%
0.080%

Investments maturing in < 1 year
Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years
Investments maturing between 2 - 3 years

Actual
risk level
0.018%
n/a
n/a

Variance
0.042%
-

Liquidity
The Council had an average of £7.9m instant access cash available during the reporting period. This
is in excess of the working capital sum required (£5m) but reflects the instant access or short term
nature of deposits in instant access accounts during this period of low returns. The short term
investments also reflect the expected rate rise. The council did not use its overdraft facility in this
reporting period.
Yield
Budget
£223,851
0.286%

Interest receivable 2017-18
Yield (3 month LIBID1)

Actual
£257,333
0.839%

Variance
(£33,482)
(0.553%)

The rate of return of 0.839% includes cash investments and loans to 3rd parties and is higher than the
target yield. The additional income is a result of loans to 3rd parties at market rates continuing for a
longer time frame than originally budgeted and an increase to the base bank rate.
Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below.
Counterparty Exposure
754,433, 3%

banks - UK

2,573,000, 10%

Banks Non UK

Loans to
3rd Parties
21,302,176, 87%

Actions/Decisions required
None

1

LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate
Page 7 of 7

57

Currently
36% of
investments
have a
maturity of
less than 1
week.

Appendix B
Funding

PROJECT

Final 2017-18
budget

Actual

Capital Reserve

Revenue
contributions

PFI scheme

Specific Grants

S106/commuted
sum

Commercialisation - Funding released
LABV Riverside Regeneration

614,703

384,094

384,094

16,140

16,140

16,140

0

0

Commercial property Rolling Maintenance 2017/18 - 1-11 St Helen's Way

51,769

51,769

27,446

Commercial property Rolling Maintenance 2017/18 - Minstergate

39,302

39,302

39,302

Commercial property Rolling Maintenance 2017/18 Bertie Ward way

94,726

94,020

84,615

214,181

210,661

1,030,821

795,987

512,360

0

0

0

512,360

Swaffham AMB units (carry over from 16/17)
Snetterton Power Upgrade (LEP Funded)

24,323

9,405

Commercial property Rolling maintenance 18/19
Thetford DWP

210,661

Riverside Finishing Items
551,597

33,728

0

210,661

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

500,000

428,068

428,068

500,000

428,068

428,068

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Commercialisation - not yet released
Reinvestment Strategy 17/18 (inc 16/17 carry over)
TEP - Facilitate delivery of TEP

Strategy and Governance - Funding released
ICT Strategy Projects

Strategy and Governance - not yet released
ICT Strategy Projects

0
0

0

0

0

Place - Funding released
Match funding - Shipdham Church

8,051

Disabled Facilities Grants/Re-able

1,120,804

943,295

943,295

127,024

16,700

16,700

Enhancement grants/Restore
Match Funding Project - Shipdham Church

0

Transfer of Play Areas - Thetford

38,510

38,510

38,510

Pl Ref:3PL/2006/0441/0 Ashill MUGA

34,840

34,840

34,840

Transfer of Play Areas to Town Councils - Dereham

13,431

0

Car Parks Re-surfacing 16/17

9,701

9,701

9,701

Car Parks Re-surfacing 17/18

128,346

122,545

122,545

Car parks resurfacing 2018/19

0

Car parks resurfacing 17/18 - Bury Road Thetford (31.5k), Horse pitt (20k), Breckland
business centre(25k)
Joint use agreement Attleborough

68,000

52,070

52,070

35,000

28,622

28,622

Joint use agreement Swaffham

38,298

0

PFI

76,998

76,998

1,699,003

1,323,281

161,702

0

76,998
212,938

0

76,998

959,995

73,350

Place - not yet released
Joint use agreement Swaffham
Affordable Housing
Adoption of roads
public lighting
Air Conditioning
Elizabeth House

0
0

0

340,000
0
501,702

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,243,886

2,547,336

1,192,603

33,728

76,998

1,170,657

73,350

LABV Mileham

128,703

128,703

128,703

LABV Mileham phase 2

437,954

418,292

418,292

43,562

43,562

43,562

610,219

590,557

590,557

0

0

0

0

4,854,106

3,137,893

1,783,160

33,728

76,998

1,170,657

73,350

Grand Total Capital Programme

Capital Loans

Mileham Development Loan
LABV Chapel Road Attleborough

Total Capital Loans
Grand Total Capital Programme

0

0

58

Agenda Item 10

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and Transformation

To:

Overview and Scrutiny Commission – 31st May 2018
Cabinet – 12th June 2018

Author:

Charlotte Paine – Senior Business Intelligence Officer

Subject:

Performance Overview Report – Quarter 4 2017/18

Purpose:

To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1st January
2018 to 31st March 2018

Recommendation(s):
1)

To note the content of the report

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Quarter 4 Performance Report (Appendix A) provides Members and residents with
information about the Council’s delivery against its Corporate Priorities and on the Council’s
Corporate Health. This covering report presents a summary of the status of the Council’s
key indicators.

1.2

Areas of success, where performance is above target, are brought to Members’ attention,
as are areas of concern where performance is below anticipated outcomes or is considered
to be worsening. Areas of performance are discussed at Performance Board.

1.3

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1.4

Current status of key performance indicators (above): Quarter 4’s performance is
assessed as ‘good’ with 9 indicators (69%) marked ‘Green’, meaning that performance is
very good and is meeting or exceeding the achievable standard. 3 indicators (23%) are
‘Amber’ meaning performance in these areas is at an acceptable level between the
minimum and achievable standards.1 indicator (8%) is ‘Red’, however in this instance, the

59

indicator is achieving income above its target and is not a cause for concern.

1.5

AREAS OF SUCCESS

1.6

Environmental services waste collection indicators all show a good performance despite the
severe weather that was faced in the latter part of the quarter with all 3 indicators ending
the year reported as green and at a similar position to the same period last year.

1.7

Both finance indicators are reporting additional income received above the target set. In the
case of the short term investment forecast, which whilst technically red, this is indicating
additional income has been received and therefore not an area of concern. As raised at a
committee meeting earlier in the year, the return of investment indicator is above the target
amount, this is because the target is set by the banks whilst we have sought alternative
investments which provide better returns.

1.8

The staff turnover indicator is reported below target in quarter four with 3 leavers in the
period. Overall the year has seen a 15.33% turnover which is above the 10% target.
However, as has been reported throughout the year, much of this is due to the service
reviews that have been undertaken as part of the Moving Forward programme. This
equates to 44 leavers in the year, of which 18 were resignations and other reasons
included dismissals, redundancies and mutual agreement departures.

1.9

Performance in the revenues and benefits service is reported at end the financial year as
exceeding the target for collection of both business rates and council tax with almost £1
million collected ahead of the targeted date. The LA error rate is reported as 0.26% which
is well below the threshold that risks financial penalties and is consistent with the value
reported at the same point last year.

1.10

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT

1.11

The number of complaints upheld or partially upheld in the period is reported slightly over
target at 28%. This is an improvement from the previous quarter with a vast improvement in
the number upheld relating to revenues and benefits complaints. Of the 13 in this quarter, 3
were for this service, with only 1 of those fully upheld. The common theme for this quarter
related to the accuracy of information provided by staff on the phone and this is being
raised with ARP and Customer Contact to see if any further improvements can be made.
The service with the most upheld complaints this quarter was Planning with 5 in total, 3 of
which were fully upheld. The common theme identified was in regards to delays in planning
application decisions or contact from the service. The performance of responding in time
has been picked up with Planning and there already seems to be an improvement in the
timeliness of correspondence, though this will continue to be monitored.

1.12

Customer Contact reports the average call waiting time has improved for quarter four and is
now below the target of 150 seconds, an improved picture from the 190 seconds reported
for quarter three. Call abandonment has also seen an improvement in performance from
quarter three with 16.58% reducing to 12.41%. This is despite an increase in calls of more
than 15%.

1.13

Commercial property occupancy rates fell under 90% for the first time given the ongoing
vacancy of an asset in Kings Lynn. The asset is a large unit which can take longer to let,
however the period has seen some other smaller units let and ensures that the overall
year’s performance is above target at 92%. The committee has previously asked to have

60

assurance of performance in relation to the income of the assets and to confirm, the income
for the year is reported above target endorsing that the assets are still providing income
and value to the Council. As an indicator regarding income will provide greater assurance
to Members of the success of commercial assets, it is recommended that from quarter one,
this will be the indictor used to scrutinise performance in this area.
1.14

Finally we would like to raise with the committee that the end of quarter four reporting
raises a good opportunity, with the agreement of the Members, to recommend a review of
the performance indicators that are reported. In line with the recently completed annual
corporate plan refresh, the performance framework has been reviewed to ensure reporting
is in line and relevant to the corporate plan for 2018/19. Therefore quarter one would
introduce a new suite of indicators which we would present to the committee prior to the
meeting in which quarter one performance would be reported.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

No recommendations made. Report for information and to be noted only.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

No recommendations made. Report for information and to be noted only.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

Not applicable.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the
Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2

Constitution & Legal

5.2.1

Constitution and Legal Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report
Author that there are no implications.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

Contracts implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that
there are no implications.

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

5.5

Crime and Disorder

5.5.1

Crime and Disorder implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report
Author that there are no implications.

61

5.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights implications have been considered and it is the
opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7

Financial

5.7.1

Financial implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that
there are no implications.

5.8

Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1

Health & Wellbeing implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report
Author that there are no implications.

5.9

Risk Management

5.9.1

Risk implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that there
are no implications.

5.10

Staffing

5.10.1 Staffing implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that
there are no implications.
5.11

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescale implications have been considered and it is the
opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

No Wards or Communities are affected

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide
Background papers:- None
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Charlotte Paine
Senior Business Intelligence Officer
07870 835233
charlotte.paine@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

62

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post:
Charlotte Paine – Senior Business Intelligence Officer
Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Quarter 4 Performance Report

63

Q4 2017/18 BDC Overview and Scrutiny Report
Generated on: 16 May 2018

Indicator

% of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 1

Complaints upheld as a %
of all stage 1 complaints

64

closed in period This is

Same time last year

calculated using the

Q4 2016/17

number of complaints

Current Performance Q4

upheld divided by the total
number of complaints
closed in the period

Trend Chart

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
25%

# of complaints upheld # of complaints closed

Value

8

19.05%

42

# of complaints upheld # of complaints closed

Value

13

28%

46

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the

8 complaints were upheld with 5 partially upheld in the quarter. The

number of complaints upheld where it can be

areas included planning, environmental services, housing and ARP.

demonstrated that the council is at fault

1

Indicator

% of Calls Abandoned

% of calls that are
answered by an
appropriate member of

Trend Chart

Same time last year

staff from the total of calls

Q4 2016/17

offered

Current Performance Q4

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
10.1%

# Calls Abandoned

# Calls Received

Value

3,497

31,219

11.2%

# Calls Abandoned

# Calls Received

Value

4,326

34,867

12.41%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower % is better as we look to answer more

Despite an increase in call volumes compared to Q3, the number of

calls

calls abandoned reduced by over 600. March saw the highest calls

65

received with over 13,000 in the month.

Indicator

Average Wait Time in Seconds

Average Time to Answer
Phone calls in Seconds

Trend Chart

Same time last year
Total # seconds to

Total # of calls

Value

N/A

N/A

102.33

Total # seconds to

Total # of calls

Value

N/A

146.33

answer
Q4 2016/17
Current Performance Q4
answer
Q4 2017/18
Current Target
150

N/A

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower number is better as it indicates less

February and March saw performance return to within the target

time waiting for a call to be answered

range and ensures quarter 4 is reporting call waiting times under the
150 second target

2

Indicator

% of household waste recycled or composted

% of household waste
which has been recycled

Same time last year

and composted (includes
garden waste) against all

Trend Chart

the household waste

Q4 2016/17

collected

Current Performance Q4

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
32%

Recycle/Compost

Total Waste Collected

Tonnage

Tonnage

4042.06

12,159.84

33.27%

Recycle/Compost

Total Waste Collected

Value

Tonnage

Tonnage

3957.16

12,212.16

What does good look like?

Value

32.24%
Latest Note

A higher % is better as we look to recycle or

The quarter saw an increase in dry recycle material but a reduction in

compost more waste

garden waste. This is to be expected for the time of year and given

66

the bad weather experienced in Q4

Indicator

Missed Waste Collections

Number of missed waste
collections per 100,000

Trend Chart

Same time last year

households
Q4 2016/17

Number of missed

Num of collections per Value

collections

100,000

43

2.705

Number of missed

Num of collections per Value

collections

100,000

38

2.667

16

Current Performance Q4

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
15

14

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower number is better as we look to ensure Performance under target which, given the weather in the period, is

3

fewer waste collections are missed

Indicator

Residual Waste per Household (kg)

Number of Kg’s of residual
waste collected per
'residual waste collected' x

Total residual waste in

Number of households Value

KG

1016.5 then divided by

Q4 2016/17

number of households

Current Performance Q4

waste has been collected

Trend Chart

Same time last year

household. Calculated by

from

8,251,723

180,723

67

Current Target
46

Total residual waste in

Number of households Value

8,391,208

182,175

What does good look like?

46.08
Latest Note

A lower number is better as we look to reduce Waste collection figures remain in the same region as last year and
the amount of waste sent for incineration

overall, the figures are reported the same as the previous year

% Return on Cash Investment (Treasury Yield)

The % return received on
cash invested

45.7

KG
Q4 2017/18

Indicator

evidence of a good provision of service.

Trend Chart

Same time last year

Q4 2016/17

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

0.78%

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

0.84%

Current Performance Q4

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
0.29%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A higher number is better as we look to

Target over achieved, mainly due to loans to third parties at market

receive more return on cash invested

rates

4

Indicator

Short term investment Income Forecast

Net variance from
expected (budgeted)
interest expected

Trend Chart

Same time last year

Q4 2016/17

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

-£272,372

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

-£256,895

Current Performance Q4

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
-£223,853

What does good look like?

Latest Note

The higher the negative figure the better as

The interest income for the year is slightly over budget as a result of

this indicates more income

loans to 3rd party partners for a longer period than originally
budgeted, alongside a slight rise in recent longer term rates achieved

68

Indicator

Staff turnover %

% of total leavers against
total number of staff
employed in period

Trend Chart

Same time last year

(includes involuntary

Q4 2016/17

leavers)

Current Performance Q4

Target is 10% which has
been benchmarked

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
2.5%

Number of Leavers

Number of Employees

Value

11

273

4.03%

Number of Leavers

Number of Employees

Value

3

287

1.05%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to retain staff

This quarters figures include leavers due to resignation and
redundancy for full time staff, fixed term and temporary staff figures
not included

5

Indicator

Cases Prevented from Homelessness per 1,000 Households

P1E Return - Prevention
and Relieving of
Homelessness (No. of

Same time last year

potentially homeless cases

Q4 2016/17

diverted from

Current Performance Q4

homelessness per 1,000

Trend Chart

households)
Q4 2017/18
Current Target
Data Only

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

.5

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

2.0

What does good look like?

Latest Note

This is not a targeted measure as number will

There have been 121 households prevented from homelessness due

fluctuate dependent upon demand to the

to the interventions of the team

69

service.

Indicator

Housing Benefit LA Error Rate

Local Authority error in
Housing Benefit

Same time last year
Error expenditure

overpayment Amount of
benefits overpaid divided

Trend Chart
Total housing benefit

Value

expenditure

by benefits paid (% of

Q4 2016/17

overall expenditure)

Current Performance Q4

82,949.29

32,019,319.43

0.26%

Error expenditure

Total housing benefit

Value

expenditure
Q4 2017/18
Current Target
0.35%

80,161.94

30,531,372.32

0.26%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to minimise the

Performance continues to remain within target and away from risk of

amount of money paid in error and reduce the possible financial penalty for excessive errors.
risk of financial penalty (which occurs above

6

0.48%)

Indicator

Net Business Rates receipts

Actual revenue collected in
respect of Business Rates

Trend Chart

Same time last year

against budget
Q4 2016/17

In year collection

Target amount to be

amount

collected

Value

£29,720,701

£30,897,450

£29,720,701

In year collection

Target amount to be

Value

amount

collected

£30,716,188

£30,023,702

Current Performance Q4

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
£30,023,702

£30,716,188

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to collect as much

Above target and collected nearly £700,000 above expected target

70

of the business rates debit as possible

Indicator

Net Council Tax receipts

Actual revenue collected in
respect of Council Tax

Same time last year

against the amount which
the authority has budgeted

Trend Chart

Q4 2016/17

In year collection

Target amount to be

amount

collected

Value

£65,040,092

£64,085,074

£65,040,092

In year collection

Target amount to be

Value

amount

collected

£68,701,234

£68,424,497

Current Performance Q4

Q4 2017/18
Current Target

What does good look like?

£68,701,234
Latest Note

7

£68,424,497

Higher is better as we look to collect as much

Above target with nearly £700,000 above expected target collected

of the Council Tax debit as possible

Indicator

Commercial Property Occupancy

Target is to achieve 90%
occupancy level of the

Same time last year

Council's commercial
property (investment, non
operational) assets which

Q4 2016/17

excludes operational

Current Performance Q4

assets

71

Calculated by total floor
space let over the total
lettable space.

Trend Chart

Q4 2017/18
Current Target
98%

Total floor space let

Total lettable space

(sq.ft)

(sq.ft.)

612,152.667

627,146

98%

Value

Total floor space let

Total lettable space

(sq.ft)

(sq.ft.)

565,179.667

637,341

Value

89%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A higher number is better as we look to rent

The Commercial Property occupancy remains lower than previously

out as much of the commercial property space reported primarily due to the Kings Lynn investment asset (ex Jaeger
as possible and increase income

unit) remaining void. This one asset represents 7%. We are actively
promoting and marketing all of our vacant properties to minimise
void periods.
4 industrial new lettings and 2 new lettings in Dereham Business
Centre were completed in March.

8

Agenda Item 11

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Sam Chapman-Allen, Deputy Leader and Executive Member of Strategy,
Governance & Transformation
Paul Claussen, Executive Member of Place

To:

Cabinet, 4th June 2018

(Author:

Greg Pearson, Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager)

Subject:

Community Reserve Protocols

Purpose:

To establish a protocol that sets out how the Council will identify potential
projects/items that can be funded from the newly established Community
Reserve.

Recommendation:
1)

That Cabinet agrees the protocols around how the Community Reserve can be used as set
out in this report.

2)

That Cabinet agrees that the sum of £250,000 be ring-fenced from the Community Reserve
to be used by the Market Town Initiative and makes a recommendation to Full Council to
agree this in line with the Council’s Financial Regulations.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

At Council on 22nd February 2018, Elected Members agreed the establishment of a
Community Reserve to support projects and initiatives in Breckland. The funding has been
generated by the removal of the Council’s reliance on New Homes Bonus from the General
Fund. Funding totalling £6.15 million is likely to be available over a four year period as
follows: 




2018-19 = £1,785,946 (confirmed)
2019-20 = £1,479,766 (expected)
2020-21 = £1,334,368 (expected)
2021-22 = £1,550,667 (expected)

1.2

It has been agreed that it would be pertinent to set out an agreement that clearly defines
how the funds in this reserve should be spent to ensure that they are being used in the
manner that Council intended them to be. This agreement will be known as the Community
Reserve Protocol and the criteria that it establishes are set out in this report.

1.3

THE PROTOCOL

1.4

The purpose of the Community Reserve is to deliver benefits to the communities of
Breckland by investing in assets or initiatives that will either/or:


Provide a direct financial benefit to the Council through:
i. Rental income
ii. Increased business rates income

72

iii. Increased council tax collection


Save the Council money by:
i. Reducing service demand by ensuring skills improvement and growth
ii. Increasing employment opportunities creating a reduced demand for
services such as benefits and council tax relief



Address specific locality issues through:
i. Utilising fixed term resources to deliver actions that will address or reduce
the impact on the affected community
ii. Commissioning specific services from third parties that will address or
reduce the impacts of these issues
iii. Delivering a positive activity that brings benefit to the community

1.5

Initiatives chosen using the above criteria must have a social return on investment. This is
calculated by using a framework that allows us to estimating the economic, social and
environmental value of our intervention and enables us to demonstrate that the investment
made is delivering a genuine benefit. This might not necessarily be a cashable benefit, but
it will give us a measure of the non-cashable benefits that add real value to people’s lives.

1.6

Projects that are solely investment focused and will not deliver a community benefit should
be funded from the Growth & Investment Reserve with monies transferred accordingly.

1.7

The Community Reserve will not be used to fund the following as these will be covered
separately by the Market Town Initiative: 



1.8

Street furniture
Presentation of retail premises on the ‘high street’
Park and Gardens

It must be acknowledged that due to the nature of community projects that any return on
investment is likely to: 





Be higher risk than commercial activities
Take longer to realise than commercial activities
Have a lower yield than more commercial activities
Deliver community benefit not just financial return
Capital investment will always be retained but can be disinvested if required

1.9

A full list of initiatives that the Community Reserve will be utilised on during the 2018-19
financial year will be brought forward at a future date. This report is setting the parameters
for how the Community reserve could be spent rather than what specific projects or
initiatives it will be spent on. The list of initiatives will come forward (to Cabinet) for
approval on 9th July 2018. If Members have proposals for initiatives they would like to see
funded from the reserve that meet the above criteria they can submit these to the relevant
Executive Director up until 22nd June 2018.

1.10

Separate to this list coming forward it is proposed that £250,000 be ring-fenced from the
reserve to provide ongoing investment in the Market Town Initiative. Currently this is being
funded by one off money that has been released, once this has been spent then no further
work can be undertaken. This would enable the continuation and growth of the initiative to
ensure that our Market Towns continue to be vibrant places that people want to visit. Given
the value of this under the Council’s financial regulations this would need council approval,
therefore this report is seeking a Cabinet recommendation to Full Council to approve this.

73

1.11

In order to provide greater oversight on how the Community Reserve is spent, it is
recommended that decisions made on expenditure have an amended criteria to that set out
in the Council’s Constitution. The table below sets out this proposed amendment: Financial Level
< £10,000
£10,000 - £100,000
>£100,000

Decision Maker
Executive Director of Place in consultation with the Deputy Leader
and the Executive Member for Place
Cabinet
Full Council

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Do nothing (Not Recommended)

2.2

Agree the protocols around what the newly established Community Reserve can be used
for as set out in this report. (Recommended)

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

By utilising the Community Reserve in the way set out above it would bring significant
benefits to both the Council and the residents. It would enable the council to invest in its
community in a sustainable way that would bring long term financial benefits through either
additional income or cost reduction. It would benefits residents by improving skills and
income levels across the district.

3.2

The Council has made already the decision to establish the Community Reserve. The
budget for 2018-19 has made a provision that this money will be spent and Council Tax
rates have been set taking this into account. By not spending this reserve the Council would
have in affected set its Council tax rates too high.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

By utilising the Community Reserve in the ways set out above the benefits to the Council
would be:
a. Additional income through increased Council Tax collection, increased business
rates income and/or additional rental income;
b. Cost reduction through reduced service demand achieved by increased
employment and income opportunities in the district.

4.2

It must be noted that the expected delivery of any benefits from the Community Reserve will
be long term and unlikely to be realised within the first two years after investment.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme;
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more
of these headings, these are identified below.

74

5.1

Constitution & Legal

5.1.1

As set out in paragraph 1.9 it is proposed that there is an amended decision making criteria
for the Community Reserve to those set out in the Council’s Constitution. This is to provide
greater oversight on how the funds are being spent.

5.1.2

All legal implications of any initiative will need to be fully explored and set out as part of a
business case put together to secure funding from the reserve.

5.2

Corporate Priorities

5.2.1

The creation of a community reserve and its investment into initiatives supports the delivery
of the Council’s corporate priority ‘Enabling stronger, more independent communities’ as
set out in its corporate plan.

5.3

Financial

5.3.1

As with all expenditure, the Council’s financial standing orders will need to be followed. It is
however, proposed in paragraph 1.9 that these are revised for expenditure against the
Community Reserve. This will mean that any initiative costing between £10,000 and
£100,000 will need to be authorised by the Cabinet. Any amount over £100,000 will need
sign off by Full Council.

5.3.2

Depending on what initiatives the Council’s chooses to spend the reserve on there could
potentially be tax implications which would need to be fully explored. All options would need
to be set out in any business case brought forward prior to the agreement to release
funding from the reserve.

5.3.3

Appendix A of this report sets out the financial implications relating to the Community
Reserve in full.

5.4

Health & Wellbeing

5.4.1

Investment into initiatives that have a positive community benefit will improve the health
and wellbeing of Breckland residents. The focus of one of the protocol’s criteria on
delivering improved skills and employment options to the district will increase income levels
which national research shows has a positive benefit on health and wellbeing.

5.5

Reputation

5.5.1

By choosing to invest in community initiatives the Council is likely to receive positive
recognition from its community, this will have a positive impact on the Council’s reputation.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

This will affect all wards in Breckland dependent on the initiatives that the Reserve
supports.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

NA

75

Background papers: -

See the Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Greg Pearson, Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager
07500-030900
greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Yes

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

76

PROFORMA B

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL
THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT
FROM:
REPORT:
REPORT DATE:

Alison Chubbock (Chief Accountant)
Community Reserve Protocols
12 June 2018

Revenue
Income
tbc
Costs
Confirmed funding
Indicative estimated funding
Total Revenue
Capital
Income
N/A
Costs
N/A
Total Capital
Considered By:
Date:

£ Year 1
2018-19

£ Year 2
2019-20

£ Year 3
2020-21

£ Year 4
2021-22

(-)

(-)

(-)

(-)

1,785,946
1,785,946

1,479,766
1,479,766

1,334,368
1,334,368

1,550,667
1,550,667

(-)

(-)

(-)

(-)

-

-

-

-

Cabinet
12-06-18

Financial Services Comments
The report sets out the protocols around how the Community Reserve can be used and follows
the existing constitution for release of funds.
The values shown for the reserve for 2019-20 onwards are indicative estimates and will change,
dependent on the value of New Homes Bonus received by the Council in future years. The
value will be confirmed around February each year. Therefore amounts should not be
committed until the value of New Homes Bonus has been confirmed (currently there is
£1,785,946 confirmed).
£250,000 of the 2018-19 allocation is recommended to be ring-fenced for the Market Town
Initiative.
The current budget does not include any expected financial return from the Community
Reserve, so there is no requirement for a return on investment. As the reserve is limited in
value it would not be prudent to fund ongoing costs from this source (i.e. permanent staff).
As projects are bought forward for consideration, their funding source should also be
considered, as it may be more appropriate for funding to be provided from other sources, such
as the growth and investment fund if the projects provide a financial return through rents,
council tax, business rates, etc.
Financial Risk
It is important than any potential projects are reviewed by finance for VAT/tax implications
before progressing to completion, so that any potential implications can be understood before
proceeding
This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance.
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\2\0\4\AI00028402\$hc
04/06/2018
Page 1 of 1
ankopy.doc

77

Agenda Item 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

78

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

87

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

90

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

93

